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Wednesday, January 4, 2017
--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, please be seated.

That will work now.  Yes, it's good to get the technical things underway first.

Good morning, and happy new year.  The Board is sitting today to hear the unsettled issues in application EB-2016-0061, which is an application by Canadian Niagara Power Inc. for rates beginning January 1st, 2017.

My name is Cathy Spoel, and I am the presiding member today, and sitting with me is Paul Pastirik.

Could we have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. TAYLOR:  Good morning, Andrew Taylor, counsel for Canadian Niagara Power.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Taylor.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm Michael Buonaguro, counsel for Canadian Niagara Power.

MR. BARBER:  Rod Barber, regulatory analyst, Canadian Niagara Power.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken, Energy Probe Research Foundation.

MR. JANIGAN:  Michael Janigan, the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MR. HAN:  Jie Han, Canadian Niagara Power.

MS. SPOEL:  Yeah, we will deal with the witness panel in a moment.

MR. KING:  Good, thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Just sort of counsel and so on.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Good morning, Panel.  Ljuba Djurdjevic, counsel for OEB Staff, and with me is Martin Davies for OEB Staff.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  So Mr. Taylor, we have reviewed the settlement proposal, and we don't have any issues or questions on it, so unless there -- if there is anything you particularly want to bring to our attention, that's fine, but otherwise we don't require a presentation on the settlement proposal.

MR. TAYLOR:  No, we are fine with skipping that.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, great.  So my understanding is that we are going to have two witness panels, one to deal with the pension and OPEBs issue and then the second panel to deal with the other issues, which is primarily OM&A?

MR. TAYLOR:  Correct.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  Before we start with the witnesses, are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  The parties have each filed compendia of documents that they will be referring to, and we will make those exhibits, as each party starts their cross-examination, if that's acceptable.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  And we have two packages up here; is that...

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  You should have Canadian Niagara Power's compendium.

MS. SPOEL:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And we also have School Energy Coalition's cross-examination material.

MS. SPOEL:  Oh.  And there is a third one from Energy Probe; is that correct?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And there is a third one from Energy Probe, and we have one from VECC from this morning, but we don't have a hard copy of that for you yet, unless Mr. Janigan happens to have a stack that he is hiding from us.

MR. JANIGAN:  No, it will be ready at the break --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Good.

MR. JANIGAN:  -- as I understand from the printer downstairs.

MS. SPOEL:  That's fine.  I just want to make sure that we have got all the pieces of paper that we should have.

Are there any other preliminary matters, Mr. Taylor?  No.  In that case, perhaps you could introduce panel 1 and have them affirmed.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay, so why don't we start with you, Mr. King.  I am referring to tab 2 of the hearing materials that were provided by Canadian Niagara Power.

MS. SPOEL:  Should we give this an exhibit number?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, let's make that one an exhibit now, so it will be K1.1, and that is the Canadian Niagara Power Inc. hearing materials.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  CANADIAN NIAGARA POWER INC. HEARING MATERIALS.

MR. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay, Mr. King, can you please tell us what your position is at Canadian Niagara Power?

MR. KING:  Yeah, my position is CFO and vice-president of finance.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  And how long have you held this position?

MR. KING:  Since 2005.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  And what are your responsibilities?

MR. KING:  My responsibilities are the finance aspect of the company, be it financial reporting, budgeting, income tax, treasury, internal controls, et cetera.  I am also responsible for customer service, as I am also responsible for regulatory.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  And prior to that from 2003 to 2005 you were a director of finance and treasurer?

MR. KING:  I was director of finance treasury with Canadian Niagara Power, responsibilities, you know, treasury, assistance with regulatory, as well as some special projects.

MR. TAYLOR:  And prior to that?

MR. KING:  Prior to that I worked with Newfoundland Power, a financial reporting capacity as well, assisting in regulatory.  And prior to that I worked with Fortis Trust, a small trust company, as CFO there, financial reporting, regulatory as it related to OSFI, CDMC, and CDIC, et cetera.  And prior to that I was with Deloitte & Touche as a senior manager when I left.

MR. TAYLOR:  Great, and you are a CPA?

MR. KING:  I am.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay, let's move on to Greg Beharriell.

Greg, what's your position at Canadian Niagara Power?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I am the manager of regulatory affairs at Canadian Niagara Power.

MR. TAYLOR:  And you have held that position since...

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Since April of this year.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay, and prior to that?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Prior to that I held various positions at Algoma Power Inc., formerly Great Lakes Power Limited, ranging from engineering to operations and supervisory positions as well.

MR. TAYLOR:  And you are a professional engineer?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I am.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  And Brian Vander Vloet?

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Yes.

MR. TAYLOR:  What's your position at CNPI?

MR. VANDER VLOET:  I am the manager of regulatory accounting.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay, and how long have you held that position?

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Since 2013.

MR. TAYLOR:  And prior to that?

MR. VANDER VLOET:  I was a regulatory accountant at Canadian Niagara Power from the 2010 to 2013 period.  And prior to that I was a senior associate and associate at Price Waterhouse Coopers.

MR. TAYLOR:  Great.  And you're a chartered accountant?

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Yes.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  And last but not least, we have got Scott Cushing.  Mr. Cushing, where do you work?

MR. CUSHING:  I work for Mercer Canada.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  And what's your position there?

MR. CUSHING:  I am a principal of the company and a consulting actuary at Mercer.

MR. TAYLOR:  And how long have you been a principal there?

MR. CUSHING:  I have been a principal there since 2005.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  And prior to that?

MR. CUSHING:  Prior to that I have been at Mercer since 1994, and prior to that I worked with another consulting firm, Towers Perrin.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  And I see from your CV here that you are a fellow of the Canadian Institute of Actuaries, as well as a fellow of the Society of Actuaries.  How do you become a fellow of these organizations?

MR. CUSHING:  So there's an education and exam process that has to be completed in order to receive the designation both of the fellow of the Society of Actuaries and the fellow of the Canadian Institute of Actuaries, and I completed that in 2001.

MR. TAYLOR:  So you are a professional actuary?

MR. CUSHING:  That's correct.

MR. TAYLOR:  And what was your involvement in the preparation of the application?

MR. CUSHING:  My involvement in the preparation of the application was to provide the numbers that are included in the -- to do the calculations, provide the numbers that are included in the application.  We also assisted somewhat in responding to some of the questions that arose.

MR. TAYLOR:  And the numbers you talking about, though, those are numbers related to pensions and OPEB?

MR. CUSHING:  Pensions and OPEB, correct.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  And were you involved in preparing the actuarial evaluations at Exhibit 4, tab 4, Schedule 2, Appendix A?

MR. CUSHING:  Yes.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  It was our intention to qualify Mr. Cushing as an expert.  We understand there is an objection from the School Energy Coalition.  Is this a time where you want to deal with this?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, first I want you to explain what the expertise is and what you are asking to be qualified.

MR. TAYLOR:  Well, what we want is for Mr. Cushing to assist the panel, both the witness panel and the Board panel, in understanding the issue of OPEBs and pensions.  It's a somewhat complex issue, and we want to be helpful to the Board.  So because Mr. Cushing was involved in preparing the actuarial evaluation, he is quite intimate with the application, and he is a professional actuary.  We believe that he should be qualified as an expert, number one.  And number two, the areas that we would want him to speak to are really not about the regulatory accounting as to, you know, why CNPI should include pensions and benefits costs in rates on a particular basis, whether it be cash or accrual, but really just the basis for the actuarial evaluation which was based on an accrual methodology.

MS. SPOEL:  Do you have any objection to that, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair, I provided my colleague with notice the other day that we had a concern about this.

Might I have a voir dire of the witness?  I think I am entitled to challenge him by questioning him --


MS. SPOEL:  Question his qualifications as an actuary?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, his qualifications to give expert evidence.

MS. SPOEL:  Well if, you want to ask him some questions, I suppose, yes, go ahead.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Cushing, are you a CPA?

MR. CUSHING:  No, I am not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you an expert in any type of accounting, other than actuarial accounting?

MR. CUSHING:  I am an expert in accounting as it relates to pension and other post-employment benefits.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And where did you get that expertise?  I am looking at your CV, and it doesn't say that you have any accounting training.

MR. CUSHING:  Well, the accounting, as it relates to pension and other post-employment benefits, is outlined in the accounting standards.  And as actuaries, we are professionals and considered capable of preparing the calculations for those calculations, and providing information to plan sponsors, many plan sponsors, which are required for their financial reporting.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't provide opinions on financial presentation, right?  You provide calculations, but the accountants do the presentation part?

MR. CUSHING:  We are -- our opinion would be that our calculations are determined in accordance with the accounting standards.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So whether a particular accounting standard financial presentation -- statement presentation standard requires cash basis versus accrual basis, for example, that's not what you do.  That's what the accountants do, right?

MR. CUSHING:  I would not be providing any opinion in terms of what the appropriate -- whether cash or accrual is appropriate for rate basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you very much.  So, Madam Chair, the reason we raise the concern is the issue of pension and OPEBs is an issue of accounting.  It's a presentation -- a financial statement presentation and regulatory accounting issue.

The actual amount included in the Mercer report, which is a calculation, an actuarial calculation, is not in issue, as far as I know.

So what we have said is we don't understand why Mr. Cushing is here at all.  What value can he add, if he can't give any information on the accounting approach that is appropriate?  He can't provide is an expert opinion on that, as he has just said.

MS. SPOEL:  Yes, I understand that, Mr. Shepherd, and I think Mr. Taylor has already stated that Mr. Cushing, as he did prepare the actuarial evaluation that's in the materials, he is here to assist and we would not expect him -- and he is not being expected to give an opinion on the presentation as an accrual or cash basis, which you have correctly said is in issue.

I don't think there is any harm in having him present. He may not -- it may not be all that relevant in the end. But if there are any questions, he is the author of part of the material that relates to the pensions and OPEBs issue, and I don't think there is any harm.  But I accept your -- I accept, I think -- everyone's Mr. Taylor's qualification that he is not here to provide the accounting evidence.

That is correct, Mr. Taylor?  He is not an expert on the accrual specifically.  He is not being tendered as an expert on how things should be accounted for.

MR. TAYLOR:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I agree.  In fact, we advised my friend that we had no problem with the witness being here.  But there is no reason why he needs to be qualified as an expert, because there is no issue on which his expertise is relevant.

So we are objecting to him being qualified as an expert in any issue that is before this Board.

He is very helpful in providing background information.  I get that, and I am happy to have him there.

MR. TAYLOR:  If I may?  We didn't want to complicate anything.  What we were trying to do is be helpful.  We can withdraw our request that he be qualified as an expert and we will leave him up there, and should anything come up that he can assist the Board with or answer, that's fine by us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be great.

MS. SPOEL:  I don't actually think, Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Taylor, that's an appropriate resolution.  If Mr. Cushing is here at all, he is here because he is a professional actuary and he prepared the actuarial evaluation.

If there are any issues that come up with respect to that in the course of this hearing, it would be useful to -- if he is going to provide any assistance, he is going to provide that assistance as a professional actuary and not in any other capacity.  So I think we will accept him as qualified as an actuary, not as an accountant, and take it on that basis and accept his qualifications in that regard. I don't think there is any dispute about his actuarial qualifications.

So let's leave it at that and if there are questions and if it's helpful, that's great.  And if there aren't, then there is no harm done.  But I don't think we can have him here in any capacity other than as an expert actuary.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay, thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Taylor.  All right.  Could we have the witnesses affirmed, please.

CANADIAN NIAGARA POWER INC. - PANEL 1

Glen King,

Greg Beharriell,

Brian Vander Vloet,
Scott Cushing; Affirmed

MR. TAYLOR:  Before we move forward with testimony in-chief, I'd just like to make it clear on the record that by virtue of the fact that we are putting this panel forward shouldn't be interpreted to mean that we agree that the issue substantively should be decided by the Board.

It's our position that this issue is being dealt with in a different proceeding by the Board right now, and that proceeding is EB-2015-0040.

The reason why we have put this panel forward is in case the Board does want to make a decision on the substantive issue, or if the Board wants to hear about the issue a little bit more in order to make its decision to not hear the issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  May I comment?

MS. SPOEL:  Yes, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the first I have heard of this.  As far as we knew, we agreed with the applicant that this issue would be dealt with in an oral hearing.  I think we actually agreed on that in writing.

This Board is seized with determining just and reasonable rates.  I don't know how you can do that if you don't decide how to include pension and OPEBs in the revenue requirement.  I mean, you may well decide that there is a temporary solution for these rates; I understand that, but you can't set rates if you don't have a revenue requirement, not in a cost of service proceeding.

So I am not sure I understand Mr. Taylor's suggestion that this Board shouldn't be deciding this issue.  I think, A, he has agreed -- his client has agreed that this Board should decide it, and B, I think you have no choice anyway.  Those are our submissions.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I may briefly jump in?

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I would have mentioned this if I had presented the settlement agreement, but we are back to it now.

Just looking at the settlement agreement at page 41, and I put it up on the screen.

MR. TAYLOR:  This is at tab 1 of our hearing materials.

MR. BUONAGURO:  We did note as part of the settlement agreement that it was CNPI's position that specifically what Mr. Taylor just talked about, that the issue is currently being reviewed by the Ontario Energy Board in consultation EB-2015-0400, regulatory treatment of pensions and their post-employment benefit costs such that in CNPI's view it would be premature to decide that issue in this case prior to the Board's determination of that issue for all LDCs.

So this has been the company's position since the settlement proposal, and it is in fact incorporated into the settlement proposal.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, perhaps -- perhaps before we get into evidence on this, it would be, if I'm not -- I am not sure that this is really a matter of evidence, as opposed to argument.  Is there -- is there -- maybe we could take a ten-minute break and parties could discuss amongst themselves whether or not we really need to hear any evidence on this or whether this is something that is really a matter of principle and argument as to how to deal with the fact that the Board does have a generic proceeding going on dealing with the accounting treatment of pensions and OPEBs, like, for -- as it applies -- that context applies to this specific case.  And if it's a matter that can be dealt with -- if there is something special that we need to hear evidence -- and maybe there is, Mr. Taylor -- if there is something specific that we need to hear evidence on -- I mean, I can't -- we can't decide as a panel whether we need to hear evidence until we know what the positions are.  It's not -- we have to make a decision, but we don't yet know exactly what the context is.

So if it's helpful for you making your argument as to how we should proceed given the context of EB-2015-0040, then we will hear evidence on it.  If you can -- if it's really simply a matter of argument as to which approach should be taken pending the resolution or the outcome of EB-2015-0040, then it can be left for argument.

I mean, I don't think it's a call for a panel to make, I think it's a call for you to make, and if you want to have a discussion with the other parties, I mean, they may or may not have any cross-examination on the issue, I don't know.

Would it be useful to have a short break so parties can discuss how to proceed with this?

MR. SHEPHERD:  We have discussed this, and we agreed that it would go to the oral hearing.  In fact, I think it was the applicant's proposal, because it's in their interest to be able to explain to the Board Panel why their situation is unique and that they should be allowed to continue on accrual.  It's in their interest to do that, and we agree that they should have that opportunity and we should be able to test that.

This is something that has already come up, and my understanding of what my friend Mr. Taylor is suggesting -- and he will correct me if I am wrong -- is they want to retain the ability in argument, even after presenting evidence, to say, look, Board, the best thing for you to do is don't decide this at all, that it's premature.  But if you are going to decide it, then it's in their interest to have the evidence in front of you; is that fair?

MR. TAYLOR:  That is correct.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, then let's proceed with the evidence.

MR. TAYLOR:  There is one other point that I disagree with Mr. Shepherd on, and that is, he is presenting this as though CNPI needs to justify its continuation of the accrual method.  And just to be clear, CNPI in its 2013 cost-of-service application used the accrual method.  It was accepted by the Board, so it's maintaining the status quo.

The position that CNPI should switch to a cash accounting methodology for its OPEBs and pensions comes from the intervenors.  So as far as I am concerned, the onus is on the intervenors to justify why a switch to a cash accounting basis is justified.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think we can argue onus in argument.  I don't think we need to argue it now.  I mean, obviously we disagree, but...

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Taylor.  Let's proceed.  I assume you have some examination-in-chief on the issue.  Let's proceed with that and see where it takes us.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  So panel, you have used an accounting methodology that's the accrual methodology for pensions and OPEBs; correct?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. TAYLOR:  And how long have you been using that methodology?

MR. KING:  We have always used that methodology.

MR. TAYLOR:  And why do you use that methodology?

MR. KING:  It's because it is consistent with our accounting standards.

MR. TAYLOR:  Which accounting standards are those?

MR. KING:  ASPE.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  And so are you saying that ASPE requires you to use an accrual accounting methodology?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Now, how about for regulatory accounting purposes?  Why do you use an accrual methodology?

MR. KING:  Because it's consistent with -- what we do for accounting standards is consistent what we do for regulatory standards.  The methodology has always been accepted by the OEB and other regulators, so we have consistently used that.

Most of our regulatory standards or accounting standards are consistent with accounting standards.  Certainly not all, but most are.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Can you please walk the Board through JTC1.6?

MR. KING:  Certainly, certainly.

MR. TAYLOR:  Why don't we wait one second so we can pull it up on the screen.

MS. SPOEL:  Is that in your --


MR. TAYLOR:  Sorry, it's not in the compendium, but we are going to pull it up on the screen.

MR. KING:  Okay, thank you.

So this is a table.  It's actually an update of a table in the compendium given by Energy Probe, I believe, in response to VECC 4 -- Staff-4-68, and this is a table that Board Staff asked us to complete.  It's a challenging table to put together, and we struggled with it, and we had calls with Board Staff prior to completing the table, and we went back as far as 2009 to get the information prior to 2009.  Some of it was very straightforward, some was more complicated, and they said, well, give us what you've got.  You have two weeks, so just give us what you've got, so we came up with this table, and the table that was in the Board Staff's initial interrogatory response had some -- there were some corrections that we needed to make to it, so we followed up with this undertaking here.

So let me just -- you know, pension accounting, I'll say on the record, is not straightforward.  It's a complicated matter, and hence why we use Mercer to provide us guidance, and Scott does provide us guidance in that area.

So let's just walk through -- you know, I want to talk for a second about cash versus accrual and what this really means in numbers, et cetera.  And so if I start off with 2017 for a second here, and you jump down to -- we're talking pension expense right now -- and you jump to -- let me just get my notes up here.  One sec now.

So you jump to column 2017, pension expense included in OM&A and for capital, $344,000.  So actually, the 431 number above that, that's a number that came from Mercer's, and less stuff that we charge out to other companies is not included.

Down below on the OPEB side you see the similar number of $450,000, so between those two numbers we have an expense -- or amount, I should say, of approximately $800,000, and I should caution that included in that is amounts added to capital.

So what we added to capital -- but they're not necessarily what's included in rates, because obviously what comes out of capital is only the deprecation component of that.

So we have $800,000 of pension and OPEB amounts, and then -- so let's just talk about -- so that's the accrual basis.  That's the basis that we have always used consistent with our GAAP accounting purposes, et cetera.

Let's just now compare that to the cash basis.  So you will see on the cash basis in 2016 and 2017, there was no cash contributions.  And the reason there is no cash contributions is we had our last actuarial evaluation done, which is done for funding purposes -- it's not done for accounting purposes, it's done for funding purposes by the pension regulator.

And so in that actuarial evaluation, we had a small surplus of about $1.8 million on a solvency or a wind-up basis, and that allowed us to jump to a contribution area holiday.  So they said, well, you are in a surplus position, so you don't have to make any cash contributions over the next three years until you come back in in three year's time, in 2017, December 31st, file your next actuarial evaluation and we will see where you stand.

So I said okay.  And I have been in this position for, you know, with Canadian Niagara Power for 13 years, and the first time I have seen this, the first time I've seen that we actually had a contribution area holiday.  I will talk about our contributions in second.

Then we go down below to pension -- the OPEB amounts, and you see we have paid into that cash basis $306,000, or we expected to pay in 2017; these are all forecast numbers. So if I go back to the pension, the amount under accrual basis was about $800,000 versus about $300,000 on the cash basis,  So there is a delta of $500,000.

So I just want -- so that's the difference here we are talking about.  But I just want to bring you back; I want to bring you back to our last test year.

So 2013 was our last test year. So if you look at the 2013 column for a second, and we will do a similar exercise here.  So you see the pension expense included in OM&A and for capital was $520,000, and the amount included in OPEB for OM&A and for capital was 380; so about $900,000 there.

So that is on an accrual basis, and I should note that in 2017, the amount has gone done by $100,000.  So it's $900,000 versus $800,000 in '17.  But the big difference here is the cash contributions.  We weren't on a contribution area holiday and as you can see here, we made cash contributions of $1.126 million for pensions and $317,000 for OPEBs.  So the total cash contributions we made were about $1.4 million.

So a difference -- if I compare that to the $300,000 that we did for 2017, so there was about a $1.1 million difference or a 372 percent difference, so quite a substantial difference.

So, you know, the purpose of talking about this is it just shows to the volatility on a cash versus accrual basis and we have been consistently using accrual.  And if you look across the line, you see on an accrual basis that the numbers are fairly consistent.

And, you know, again I will just highlight the cash contributions.  You know, if you go back prior to 2009, we have made again similar amounts of cash contributions from day one.

So, you know, Canadian Niagara Power has certainly contributed more in cash than we have collected in rates over that historical period of time.

So I just wanted to highlight in absolute numbers so you can see what I am talking about here, and the issue in front of us.  And so I would say -- and who knows.  Our next actuarial evaluation is December 31st, 2017.  Who knows what our cash position will be, or what our surplus or deficit position will be.

So that's -- I just wanted to highlight that, so you get the issue in front of you with respect to --


MR. TAYLOR:  If I can ask you a question, just to make sure I understand this.  In 2013, had you been accounting for pensions and OPEBs on a cash basis, what would have been -- how would your rates have been different?  How would it have impacted your revenue requirement differently?

MR. KING:  So the amounts -- and again, I will caveat with respect to the capital piece, but the amount would have been $1.4 million versus $900,000, so a delta of about $500,000.

MR. TAYLOR:  Between the cash versus accrual method?

MR. KING:  Cash versus accrual.  But the biggest delta is between '13 and '17, which is over a million dollars, $1.1 million.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  But in 2013, when certainly the accrual methodology would have been better for ratepayers, did any intervenors or Board Staff raise any objection to you using the accrual method?

MR. KING:  No, this method has been accepted historically.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay, thank you.

MR. KING:  Can I just add -- I just wanted to talk about the uniqueness of Canadian Niagara Power versus other  LDCs in the province.  And when I say other LDCs, I'm talking about specifically municipally owned LDCs.  So there are very few LDCs in the province that have defined benefit pension plans.  So most LDCs in the province -- and you probably saw in our evidence, we filed evidence that we have two or three different pension plans, but most LDCs are all OMERS.  So it only becomes an issue for OPEBs; it's not an issue for pensions, and pensions is the most volatile aspect of it.

Now, we have closed this pension plan.  It's no longer open to new entrants, and so it will eventually run its life over the next 30 years, we'll say.  But I just wanted to show the uniqueness as it relates specifically to Canadian Niagara Power.

MR. TAYLOR:  I think we are done.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Taylor.  I have an order here somewhere for cross-examination.  I can't remember.  Is it you, Mr. Aiken, who is proceeding first?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, thank you.  So if you can leave JTC1.6 up on the screen, my questions are going to be focussed on the 2017 numbers, and what they would be under a cash basis.  So I just want to work through the 2017 column and I am starting with the table at the top, the pensions.

So am I correct that the total amount included in the revenue requirement, initially anyways, is $431,000 of which 133,000 is capitalized, 211,000 is included in OM&A. There is another 86,000 included in OM&A, and then the OM&A is reduced by the 86,000 that's recovered from your related parties?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And is that 86,000 used as an offset in your OM&A expenses, or does it show up as revenue under other revenue accounts?

MR. KING:  I didn't correct you the first time.  You are technically right, but it doesn't actually make it to our OM&A.  So it's CNPI employees that do shared services to other companies, so it would be -- show up in other revenue, yes -- no, sorry, a contra to operating expense.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, and that shows up in account 4330?

MR. VANDER VLOET:  It would be in the OM&A section of OEB accounts.  I could do some digging to get you the exact --


MR. AIKEN:  Okay, well that was my question.  Is the $86,000 in revenue you received from your -- from shared services, does that show up as a reduction in OM&A or does it show up as a revenue in account -- or in the other revenue accounts?

MR. VANDER VLOET:  It would show up as a reduction in operating expenses.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And is the same thing true for -- first of all, you have non-related parties that are affiliated, being Grimsby and west area, and you charge them and other third parties, non-related parties for services as well.

Do you charge them, or do you allocate any of your pension and OPEB costs to those charges?

MR. KING:  So we would charge those companies fully-loaded rate, so yes, they would include pension and OPEB portions.

MR. AIKEN:  And the revenue you receive from those customers that is OM&A related, that is pension and OPEBs related, I take it that shows up in account 4325 and the costs show up in 4330.  So those costs are not in OM&A.

MR. KING:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So based on your accrual basis, the net OM&A costs include in rates is 211,000; is that correct?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And if the Board were determine that the pension costs should be included in the revenue requirement on a cash basis, then your evidence shows that that cash basis has a total cost of zero; correct?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And under that scenario would CNPI still be capitalizing $133,000?

MR. KING:  Would CNPI still be capitalizing $133,000?  So for financial reporting purposes, we still would have a pension expense amount.

MR. AIKEN:  What about for regulatory purposes?

MR. KING:  For regulatory, we would basically -- if we are doing it on a cash basis, then we wouldn't have a pension.  That amount wouldn't be capitalized.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And would CNPI still be recovering the 86,000 from the related parties?  Again, I am talking about on a regulatory --


MR. KING:  I know, yeah, you complicate the matter somewhat, right?

MR. AIKEN:  I try my best.

MR. KING:  So from a regulatory perspective, you know, our rates would be based upon zero pension expense, zero amounts added to capital for -- so we would have nothing in our financial statements.  And then I am just trying to think from a financial reporting perspective, you know, my auditor would say, well, you do have pension expense, and then -- but my auditor would also say, well, you have a regulatory order that says that you don't have to expense anything, you will -- next time you are on a cash basis, or you have a significant amount of cash, that's the amount you will expense or allocate these different components of it.

So I don't think -- you know, I don't think we would collect that amounts from related parties, because we won't have any, you know -- it's just a difference that -- the complication is the difference between financial reporting purposes, our regular audited financial statements, and what we do for regulatory purposes, and we always try to match the two, because once you diverse (sic) the two you get two sets of books, and things become much more complicated.

MR. AIKEN:  Moving to the OPEBs figures, which is the second table there, and again just looking at 2017, the net OM&A included in rates is 276,000; is that correct?  After you --


MR. KING:  Yes --


MR. AIKEN:  -- put in the 113,000, take out the 113,000.

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah, okay.  And again, if the Board were to determine that the OPEBs costs should be included on a cash basis, based on your comments earlier, would basically all those numbers be zero, the 276, the 113, the 174 -- I am sorry, you do have costs here.  Okay.  So I do have to go into it in more detail.

So on a cash basis, your total cost is $306,000.

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And in this case, if you're capitalizing 
-- I guess my first question is, would you still be capitalizing the $174,000?

MR. KING:  We would --


MR. AIKEN:  Or some portion thereof?

MR. KING:  Yeah, some portion of that.  You know, again, going back to your original question about, you know, what would happen, you know, there would be a discussion with our external auditor and a determination of what they would require for financial reporting purposes, our audited financial statements, would they accept that there would be -- which doesn't seem reasonable to me that there would be no pension expense and your OPEB expense would be based on a cash basis.  I am not sure they would accept that argument.  There would have to be a strong order from the Board saying, This is how thou shall do it, and we are okay with it for financial reporting purposes.

So to answer your question specifically, yeah, the 306 or a portion of it would be capitalized in some sort of component as shown there on their accrual basis.

MR. AIKEN:  And would I be correct that the 113,000 you recover from shared services, some portion of that would still be recovered?

MR. KING:  Sure, yeah.

MR. AIKEN:  It could be, you know, prorated 60 percent or whatever the number works out to be.

MR. KING:  Yeah.

MR. AIKEN:  I hate to do this, but would you provide an undertaking to show the OPEBs cost on a cash basis that would show up in your OM&A, your related parties, and your capital, that total, the $306,000, on a best estimate or best --


MR. KING:  So instead of bothering with an undertaking, I would suggest if you want to do that you would just take the percentages that are there.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, if the Board determines that the appropriate accounting for pensions and/or OPEBs costs in rates is on a cash basis, pending its determination of the appropriate treatment in the policy proceeding that Mr. Taylor mentioned that's currently underway, does CNPI agree that the use of a variance account is appropriate pending that decision?

MR. KING:  Define what you mean by "the variance accounts", what goes in, what comes out, how often it's trued up, and how often it goes into rates.  I would need to understand that, as opposed to a general question.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, if the Board in this proceeding said, yes, the cash method is the way to go --


MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  -- pending whatever the Board decides in the generic proceeding, and in that proceeding the Board says, no, pensions should be on an accrual basis, then the amount that goes into variance accounts --


MR. KING:  Cash pensions on accrual?  Is that what you just said, sorry?

MR. AIKEN:  If the Board were to determine that.

MR. KING:  Break them up?  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, who knows if they are going to do the same or different.

MR. KING:  Yeah.

MR. AIKEN:  And then take that difference between what's included in your rates on a cash basis and what would have been included on an accrual basis, put that in a variance account that CNPI then gets to recover.

MR. KING:  So I would do that every year, annually?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, until you rebase.  So that CNPI is held whole --


MR. KING:  And so --


MR. AIKEN:  -- if they want to recover its costs.

MR. KING:  So what do I do with my historical basis, so this is just on a -- is there any retroactive amounts for my deferral and variance accounts for all the cash contributions I made historically?

MR. AIKEN:  Well, the Board may determine that in its generic proceeding --


MR. KING:  There is --


MR. AIKEN:  -- but for your test year it doesn't have an impact.

MR. KING:  So I really -- I can't give you an answer to that, because it's a complicated issue.  You know, there's historical issues, there is how often it gets trued up, there's what type of interest rate goes with that.  So, you know -- and there's differences in the amount here that -- this 306 is an estimation, if that number is different than what the actual number, you know, so those numbers -- and especially when we get into the paid contribution, so we will give three years down the road when we are making cash contributions, and my contributions, I said in my rates, are one number, and the amounts change.

So the amount would vary.  So if I was held whole always in the future -- and I think I have asked for this in the past -- if you want me and my pensions to be held whole in the future, because it's a number I can't control, and it's big number that moves, so if you were to hold me whole, and I am not going to win, you are not going to win -- and I don't mean by "win", I mean, you know, the ratepayers aren't going to be harmed.  We're not going to
-- I would be amenable to that.

MR. AIKEN:  But if the variance account was based on your forecast, the forecast of the cash basis, the forecast of the accrual basis -- because that -- ultimately that's what's built into rates, not your actuals --


MR. KING:  Well, my -- on my cash basis there's a lot of variability in cash.  At the end of this year, 2017, I am going to go in and do -- I am forecasting in '17 it's zero in cash, so at the end of '17 I am going to get an actual evaluation from Mercer's, who is going to say, well, you need to start making special contributions of a million dollars plus your normal contributions, and so if I am doing it on a forecast basis, well, I am not sure I am better off there.  I am actually worse off.

So it's not -- I don't mean not to answer your question, but it's not straightforward, and hence the whole issue why it's being decided in a bigger hearing with more evidence and hence why we don't want to get in front of that, because there is a lot of evidence on the record in that issue.

MR. AIKEN:  So I take it you wouldn't want a variance account.

MR. KING:  No, I think what I said, I said if there was a variance account that was always trued up and that the ratepayer didn't pay any more than it was, than we paid on cash or paid no less on a solid basis going forward, we would be acceptable to that, because that's a number that we can't control, that moves around and causes our -- especially on a cash basis would cause significant volatility in our OM&A, so this $1.1 million represents 10 percent of our OM&A costs.  Our OM&A costs are $10 million and I think this is $1.1 million.  So it if we were all trued-up and held whole, both the ratepayer and the company, sure, I would be satisfied with that.  But not on a forecast basis and look at every five years.

MR. AIKEN:  So I take it you think the pensions and OPEBs costs should be treated differently than your other OM&A costs?

MR. KING:  Well, historically they have not.  So historically, you know, we've -- there's been no true-up, no deferral and variance accounts.  So we follow accounting policy.  We did accrual basis, so the amount that's allocated to each year is systematically done on a basis of -- an accounting basis as determined by the actuarial, signed off by external auditor, specialists and external auditor.  So I don't think it's any different.

MR. AIKEN:  But your idea of a variance account that trues-up actual rather than the forecast, that's the part I was getting at.  You want that treated differently than the rest of your OM&A.

MR. KING:  What I am suggesting, if you want me to go to cash basis and because cash, as I clearly demonstrated here is volatile, and with significant material volatility, I think it should be trued-up.

MR. AIKEN:  So if you applied that -- and you mentioned 2013, that your cash costs would have been half of -- I don't know, half a million dollars higher.

MR. KING:  Yes.  So in that particular year -- yeah, so when I come back in 2017, my cash cost is 300,000 so -- what was your question on that?  Sorry, I jumped ahead.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, you talked about 2013 being a benefit to the ratepayers, and then you talked about having a variance account that would true-up actuals.

So I am looking back at your actual 2013 total OM&A costs, and they came in a million dollars less than what the Board approved.

MR. KING:  That's the whole separate issue here.  That's -- you are talking about total OM&A costs now.  We are talking -- I am talking --


MR. AIKEN:  Why should ratepayers have a variance account for total OM&A, if you want a variance account for benefits and pension costs.

Anyways, I leave that to argument.  Those are my questions, thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.  Mr. Shepherd, you are next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam chair.  I just have a couple of follow ups on questions Mr. Aiken asked.

Mr. King, you -- I thought I heard you say that if the Board told you to go to cash method, you would have to go to your external auditor and ask them how that would be presented on the financial statements; is that right?  Because I thought you also said that ASPE requires accrual method.

MR. KING:  So regulatory accounting -- as you know, Mr. Shepherd -- is not straightforward.  So ASPE does require accrual method, but there is exceptions within as ASPE that if no different than deferred assets and liabilities, regulatory assets and regulatory liabilities. If the regulator requires you to do something and they meet certain standards and qualifications, then you can present your financial statements that way.

So that's the question.  You know, would you -- would the external auditor be comfortable with even so in talking about 2017 pensions, saying okay, my actuarial tells me I have a pension expense number of $431,000 related to my employees for Canadian Niagara Power, but my regulator tells me that I have a pension expense number of zero.  So would they be comfortable allowing me, Canadian Niagara Power, to show a pension expense number of zero for financial reporting purposes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's my question, because I thought I heard your direct evidence was you have no choice for accounting purposes, for financial statement purposes, and therefore you want to keep financial accounting and regulatory accounting consistent.

But that's not what you are saying now, right?

MR. KING:  Can you give me a reference when you say you thought you heard me say that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do I have a transcript?

MR. KING:  I don't know.  I can't recall everything I said.  But to your last point, in an ideal world, we would keep everything consistent, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if the Board said cash, then your view is your auditor might well let you use cash for financial statement purposes.

MR. KING:  Possibly, I am not -- I just throw that out there, because I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's the first thing. The second thing is -- no, actually I will come back to this.

I want to ask you a couple of questions about CNPI's particular situation with respect to pension and OPEBs and to do that, we have a compendium.  I wonder if we could have that marked?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Exhibit K1.2, and that's the compendium of School Energy Coalition.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR CNPI PANEL 1


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And if you can go to page 32 of that compendium, Mr. King, do you recognize this document?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What is it?

MR. KING:  Pardon me?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you explain what it is?

MR. KING:  It's our submission to the EB-2015-0040.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now on page 33 of our materials, there is a description of the pension and OPEB situation for CNPI.  You have seen that before; is that still correct?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in fact, you have either OMERS or defined contributions for most of your employees, right? You have defined benefit only for employees up to July 1999, right?

MR. KING:  I can't say if it's for most of our employees, but yes, certainly -- obviously, a lot of employees are still there since July 1999, so I don't know the exact numbers offhand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, for 17 and a half years, every new employee, every new employee has been --


MR. KING:  Correct, correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- has been on defined contribution or OMERS.  OMERS is effectively a defined contribution from your point of view, right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So am I right in assuming that the number of people for whom pension side is a problem is getting less, simply by operation of time?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now you've said on page 34 and 35 that you report on the basis of ASPE.  Your parent company is a public company, right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they can't use ASPE.

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But --


MR. KING:  Well, Fortis Ontario being that parent company uses ASPE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The top parent company, right, Fortis, actually uses US GAAP, right?

MR. KING:  They do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But because you are a private company, you are allowed to use ASPE.  Now, for pension and OPEB reporting purposes, how is that different from IFRS?

MR. KING:  Off the top, we don't use IFRS, so I would be digging from my history in my brain on exactly the particular difference of it.  Do you want Scott --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me suggest what I think is the answer, which is actually right in your materials here, and that is that in IFRS, if you have remeasurement amounts, those remeasurement amounts go through other comprehensive income directly to the retained earnings line, in effect, whereas in ASPE, they have to go through your income statements, so you show more of a profit and loss on an annual basis if you have a remeasurement.  Is that right?

MR. KING:  Correct -- well, correct, that's what happens in ASPE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the other difference is that you have a little more flexibility in ASPE to use something different from accrual, whereas in IFRS you have no choice, you have to use accrual.  But in ASPE, in the appropriate circumstances, your auditors can say no, it's fair to use cash for example, right?  In fact lots of private companies use cash, true?

MR. KING:  I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me go to page 36 of our materials.  You have a comment here that one of the problems with going into cash method is that it would be administratively burdensome.  Do you see that?

MR. KING:  Do you have a reference there, Jay?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's on page 36 of our -- in your own submissions.

MR. KING:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is in fact part of your submission, is that you want to maintain consistency and you don't want the administrative problem associated with having two sets of books, as you said; right?

MR. KING:  Yup.  Yup.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And -- but -- and you are not sure that would actually happen if the Board said cash method; right?

MR. KING:  Not 100 percent sure, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  And that's not -- that of course would not be the only thing that you have to report differently for financial statement purposes and regulatory accounting purposes; right?  There's lots of other things that you have to adjust for, true?

MR. KING:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, the Board has mandated capitalization policies.  Do you follow exactly the same policies or do you have your own?

MR. KING:  We follow the same policies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what about your depreciation?  Do you use half-year rule or do you use monthly?

MR. KING:  For depreciation purposes, when an item becomes used and useful it gets capitalized, and depreciation starts at that point in time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's monthly, right?

MR. KING:  Sure, if they wanted to call it monthly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's different from the Board's rule; right?

MR. KING:  Well, that's not -- no, that's what we do for all our -- the books that we state here are done on that basis, as are our financial reporting books.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are saying pensions and OPEBs are the only area in which you have a different way of accounting for regulatory and financial?  Because I --


MR. KING:  There is no difference today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And the last thing I want to ask about on this particular submission is, if you look at page 37 of our materials, one of the issues in the consultation is whether there should be a set-aside mechanism so that if you collect more money on an accrual method you have to actually set it aside, you can't use it for anything else.  You are familiar with that, right?

MR. KING:  Vaguely familiar with it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you are familiar with these submissions, right?

MR. KING:  I am familiar, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you expressed an opinion on that.  I assume you are familiar with it.

MR. KING:  Our company did, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So did you write these?

MR. KING:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Who wrote them, Mr. Beharriell?

MR. KING:  No, they were written by -- well, Greg participated, but we also have another financial accountant who is also involved in them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You approved them.

MR. KING:  I approved them, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So one of the things that happen when you collect extra money -- for example, in OPEBs, right?  Every year you collect extra money in OPEBs under accrual, then you pay out pretty well every year; right?

MR. KING:  I guess subject to check.  I don't know.  You are making generalizations.  I just can't say, yes, I agree with you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  For at least the nine years that we have in front of us, right, that were on the screen --


MR. KING:  You're talking pensions or OPEBs?

MR. SHEPHERD:  OPEBs.

MR. KING:  Okay.  So pensions will be -- was vice versa.  But, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we're going to get to pension in a second.  I'm just --


MR. KING:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- asking about OPEBs, right?  So if you collect extra money, right, that's free capital to you, right?  You can use it any way you like, and you don't have to pay for it; right?

MR. KING:  Sure.  Well, yes and no, because there is a combined -- there is both sides of it, okay?  Well, there is pensions as well.  You are just highlighting one piece of it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking about OPEBs right now.

MR. KING:  Okay.  So, yes, if the accrual basis, looking at your numbers to that point in time, I would agree that we've -- the accrual amount has been greater than -- in every year than the cash basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example --


MR. KING:  If that's what you want me to say.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- for 2017 what you are proposing is to collect 500 and -- 450 million from -- or 450,000 from
-- sorry, I was in Hydro One.  450,000 from ratepayers and only spend 306,000 of that on OPEBs, and the rest you just spend on whatever you like.  You don't have to pay interest on it or anything.

MR. KING:  Well, I am not going to collect 450 from ratepayers, because 174 of that goes in capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We will get to that, but leaving that aside, am I right?

MR. KING:  The number is higher, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So my question is, why would it be appropriate for you to get extra money from ratepayers that you are not spending on what they are paying for?  Why would that be appropriate?

MR. KING:  I don't have an answer to that, Jay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So now I'd like to turn to that question of -- to this table that -- the original one is in Mr. Aiken's compendium, but this is actually a more up-to-date one in JTC1.6.  I want to ask you a couple of questions about that.

The pension expense section that you have there, you see that?  In the original one it called that amounts included in rates, but that's not correct; right?  Those amounts are not the amounts included in rates; are they?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the accrual on the top, and your rates were set based on accrual; right?

MR. KING:  So when you say "accrual on the top", so where --


MR. SHEPHERD:  There's two sections.  There is a top section and a bottom section, right -- or, sorry, there is two sections in each of pensions and OPEBs.  There is the calculation at the top, and that calculation -- those multiple lines, right, is --


MR. KING:  Give me some numbers.  The 211, the 86, and 133?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, 211, 86, 133, et cetera, down to 344 --


MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- that's the accrual component, right?

MR. KING:  That's the accrual component, but not the amount included in rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So in fact in 2013 -- you have a number there -- that amount was included -- you said -- your evidence was that you included 900,000 in rates in 2013; right?

MR. KING:  No, no.  I qualified that by saying it's not 900,000 included in rates.  The total is 900,000, but the capital amount -- if you go back -- keep going back to that.  The capital amount is not the amount that's included in rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Well, you know what?  If you are going to keep going back to that, let's deal with the capital versus OM&A difference right now.

MR. KING:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you collect -- when you put money into rate base what happens to it?  What happens from a rate point of view?

MR. KING:  From a rate point of view?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Hmm.

MR. KING:  From a rates perspective it gets depreciated, and that's picked up through rates in a cost of capital associated with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you get roughly 10 percent a year, something like that?

MR. KING:  10 percent a year being for what?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if you spend $100 you collect from ratepayers roughly $10 a year, right, in that range?

MR. KING:  Yeah, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Between depreciation and --


MR. KING:  Eight or nine dollars, probably, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you have to include PILs, though, right?  Or taxes.

MR. KING:  I would say eight or nine dollars, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. KING:  Again, I -- we are doing numbers on the fly here, so -- well, you know, my cost of capital is 6 percent, 7 percent, and then I have 2 percent, maybe two-and-a-half percent for depreciation and -- so, you know --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And taxes.

MR. KING:  -- again -- yeah, so I don't know what -- not sure what the taxes gross up to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We are in the ballpark anyway.  Whether it's 8 or 9 or 10, it's still -- you collect a certain amount of money every year on that; right?

MR. KING:  I collect a certain amount of money every year on our rate base, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So why do you say that's not the ratepayers' spending money.  When you put $100 into rate base, you are basically -- you are going to get that money from the ratepayers; right?

MR. KING:  Eventually.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, with a high rate of interest; isn't that right?

MR. KING:  We're going to get the -- we're going to -- the shareholder and the ratepayers will get returns on their investment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then why do you think that's not the same as OM&A?  How is that different?  Whether we -- whether we -- you put money in rate base, you actually prefer to put money in rate base, right, because you earn a return on it.  You don't earn a return on OM&A.

MR. KING:  We prefer to invest money in our system, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you earn a return on it, right?  That's how you get paid.

MR. KING:  Well, we don't -- well, sure, that's how we get paid, but that's not why we do it.  We invest in our system as we are required to invest in our system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  So when you say that capital doesn't count because we don't get the money, you actually get the money by putting it into rate base and earn a return on it.  Isn't that a good thing?

MR. KING:  Well, I guess specifically you are asking in 2017 what's included in rates for that particular year, and if we are talking that $133,000, that's not what -- that amount is not included in rates for the current year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So here's the reason why I am pursuing this, is because your table here has different numbers for 2013 through 2016, but weren't you on IRM in that period?

MR. KING:  We were.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then wasn't the amount included in rates actually whatever was included in rates in 2013?

MR. KING:  Yes.  So the 344 was the amount included in rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, sorry, we are talking 2013 to 2016, so that would be --


MR. KING:  Yes, so 2013 rates, if that's your question.  So 334 OM&A were included in rates, correct, and a portion of the 176.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that amount continued -- by the way, was that the actual amount that was included in rates?  Did you go back and look at what was included in rates in 2013, because you'll recall that you spent a lot less on OM&A in 2013 than your --


MR. KING:  I don't know, Jay.  I think are these the actual numbers.  Yes, these are the actual numbers.  I don't know the exact number that was included in the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So these are the actual numbers for pension expense?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is not the actual number that was in your rate application in 2013, is it?

MR. KING:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that amount, whatever it is, that amount you collected it for four years plus 1.4 percent a year or something, right?

MR. KING:  No, 1.4 percent being -- okay, you are talking about IRM when you refer to 1.4?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KING:  Sure, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when this says oh no your expense was less each year, well, actually in terms of what you collected in rates, it wasn't, was it?  It didn't drop, did it?

MR. KING:  Well, I don't know the number that was included in rates.  But the actual number for 2013 to 2017 did drop, if that's your -- I will say that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But what you collected in rates did not.

MR. KING:  Yes, it was -- correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said that you contributed more prior to 2009 than you included in rates.  Do you recall saying that?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  But didn't you say you don't have any records prior to 2009, and you couldn't actually provide JTC1.6 prior to 2009?

MR. KING:  So I think what I said was that we had a call -- because the Board asked us to complete this table and they said, well, go back to day one, to 2001.  And that was a significant undertaking to go back.

So do we have records?  Yes.  Could we produce this all the way back?  Yes, with significant effort.  But we have records going back from day one.  But the Board said just give us whatever you have, what's readily available to us -- Board Staff, that is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My recollection in the technical conference -- I don't have it in front of me -- was that you were asked to go back to the beginning, and you said you couldn't.  Is that not right?

MR. KING:  I think the Board direction we had in a phone call from the Board was give what's available, what's currently available to you.

So we would go back -- yes, we could go back with some significant effort, go back to 2001 and determine all these numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you could determine how much you have collected, for example, in pension and OPEBs relative to cash paid out, basically back to the beginning, right?

MR. KING:  Sure, we would have all the records for that.  But again, it's about, you know, the direction we got from the Board on that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The section of this in pensions, is that just your defined benefit plan?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you haven't included in any of these numbers the defined contribution or OMERS component?

MR. KING:  That's not what the Board -- what was requested in the IR.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, the IR -- I am reading the IR now, and it says pensions, amounts included in rates.

MR. KING:  So we had a conversation with the Board Staff and specifically about how to fill out this table and that was the direction we got.

MR. SHEPHERD:  To only include defined benefit.

MR. KING:  So at the end of the day, I guess the end result of that would be -- since, as we know what we just talked about, the OMERS is on an accrual basis which is equal to cash, so you would increase the pension expense amount by the OMERS amount, and increase the cash by the OMERS amount.

EC would be the same thing; increase it by the cash amount and -- so the net number would be the same.

MR. SHEPHERD:  To the extent there is a trend because your defined benefit plan is old and closed, these numbers would show the trend?

MR. KING:  I don't know if I would qualify it because it is old and closed.  There are various factors why the DB plan has reduced pension expense, but I wouldn't define it as because it is old and closed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Doesn't your expense -- pension expense go down if you close a plan?  Isn't that part of the purpose of closing it?

MR. KING:  Eventually, yes, it will; it will disappear.  But I don't think this trend here over this three or four year period is due to that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I am seeing a trend over nine years, half the time it's been closed.  Is that not indicative?

MR. KING:  It would contribute to it, but contributions made by the company, returns on investments, management of the pension plan, interest rates; there is a whole pile of factors that go into determining pension expense amount.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, your problem in 2009 through 2014 was primarily revaluation due to declining interest rates, right?

MR. KING:  I can't -- there's lots of issues, Jay.  I can't say it was due to declining interest rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know?  I mean, you paid a million dollars a year into a plan that was closed.  You don't know that that was because interest rates were declining?

MR. KING:  Certainly declining interest rates was one  of the contributors to that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no further questions, thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you Mr. Shepherd.  Let's take a short break and then, when we return -- Mr. Janigan, how long do you think you are going to be?

MR. JANIGAN:  I have no questions for this panel.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, then that works out well.  We have no -- the panel has no questions.  Mr. Taylor, do you have any re-examination of this panel?

MR. TAYLOR:  No, we don't.

MS. SPOEL:  All right, thank you.  In that case, thank you, gentlemen, and thank you, Mr. Cushing, for your attendance although we will be seeing the rest of you later.  And we will take a break for 20 minutes and return at 11:10 with panel 2.
--- Recess taken at 10:49 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:11 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. Taylor, would you like to start with introducing -- I think there is one new member on this panel.

MR. TAYLOR:  There is, Madam Chair.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. TAYLOR:  So if you could turn to tab 2 of CNPI's hearing materials.  On the third page, there is the CV of Mr. Jie Han.

Mr. Han, what's your position with Canadian Niagara Power?

MR. HAN:  I am the vice-president, operations.

MR. TAYLOR:  Can you hear him?  Okay.

MR. TAYLOR:  And what does that position entail?

MR. HAN:  I am in charge of -- or responsible for --


[Reporter appeals.]


MR. HAN:  Okay.  I am responsible for the operation of Canadian Niagara Power in the area of engineering, construction, and the system operations.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  And how long have you held that position?

MR. HAN:  I have been in that position since 2014.

MR. TAYLOR:  And prior to that?

MR. HAN:  Before that I am the director of engineering, which including the -- most of the design and the construction part of the operation.

MR. TAYLOR:  And that was from 2004 to 2014?

MR. HAN:  That's right.

MR. TAYLOR:  And from 1998 to 2004 you worked --


MR. HAN:  I worked as a -- different positions in Maritime Electric in P.E.I.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  And you have -- you are a professional engineer?

MR. HAN:  That's right.

MR. TAYLOR:  And you have an executive MBA?

MR. HAN:  That's right.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Do you want to swear him?

MS. SPOEL:  Yes.
CANADIAN NIAGARA POWER INC. - PANEL 2

Glen King,

Greg Beharriell,

Brian Vander Vloet, Previously Affirmed;
Jie Han; Affirmed

MR. PASTIRIK:  Thank you very much.

MR. TAYLOR:  Ready to proceed?

MS. SPOEL:  Yes, thank you, sorry.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Taylor:

MR. TAYLOR:  Panel, why don't we start at tab 4.  And can you walk us through this document, please.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Okay.  So at tab 4 we have an OM&A comparison year over year.  Basically, what this table is doing is it's taking the same cost drivers that were presented in Appendix 2JB of the application and it's presenting those cost drivers in a different way.  So we are starting with actual costs, and instead of adjusting the costs year over year, we are starting with actuals, the cost drivers are coming in with the opposite signs, negatives become positives, positives become negatives, and what this does is it has the effect of allowing an apples-to-apples comparison year over year back to our last 2013 Board-approved.

So in addition, when these cost drivers come in the amount that is presented is a running total of the amounts that were included in 2JB, and that allows you to see anything with a positive sign in any year is a cost reduction from 2013, anything with a negative sign is a cost addition from 2013 approved.

The variances between these adjusted amounts down at the bottom are equal to the miscellaneous cost driver amounts between actuals in 2JB, and then those variances are compared to the OEB determined inflation rate for each year.

MR. TAYLOR:  And what -- is there any point that you want to make in regard to this table?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I think the point of including this table was, you know, there are various ways that OM&A values are presented within the application.  If you are trying to see -- you know, 2JB I think does a really good job of bringing in the cost drivers, but what it doesn't allow a straightforward comparison of is year over year, enduring savings, or when new programs are added, which years they impact.  So it's just allowing that same analysis in maybe a more helpful way.

MR. TAYLOR:  And what's the conclusion from your analysis based on this table?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  So based on this table the miscellaneous amounts that are presented here as variances are for the most part equal to the OEB inflation rate.  So it's basically saying that the cost drivers in 2JB do explain the non-inflationary differences between years.

MS. SPOEL:  Can I just ask you to -- I just want to make sure I understand what this table is.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yeah.

MS. SPOEL:  So if you take 2013 --


MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  -- the first line at the top, 8,864,000, that was your --


MR. BEHARRIELL:  That was our actual for 2013.

MS. SPOEL:  Your actual OM&A.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  Then underneath that you have got CDM staffing, 85,000.  Is that money you spent in 2013?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  No, it's the opposite, so it was -- 85,000 was included in 2013 Board-approved, so to get 2013 actuals back to our comparison to Board-approved, the 85,000 cost driver, it's a savings in 2013.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, I don't...  I am not sure I understand it.  You have got that $9,620,000 at the bottom for 2013.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  That's the sum of the numbers above, I take it.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes, it's --


MS. SPOEL:  Okay.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  -- the sum of actuals plus all --


MS. SPOEL:  So --


MR. BEHARRIELL:  -- the cost drivers that we --


MS. SPOEL:  So -- so the --


MR. BEHARRIELL:  -- have in JB --


MS. SPOEL:  -- so the regulatory staffing number of $100,000 that goes across each year --


MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  -- was that money you did spend in 2013 or didn't spend in 2013?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  So that was money we didn't spend, we had included in our 2013 application, and that second position was working for CNPI in 2012 when that application was made.  That position became vacant, and it was not replaced.  That one ties into the CDM staffing above --


MS. SPOEL:  Oh, so what you are saying here is that the -- so the 8 million -- the 88 -- 8 million-864, that was --


MR. BEHARRIELL:  An actual --


MS. SPOEL:  -- actual, not Board-approved.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes, yes, so --


MS. SPOEL:  So -- and then you are saying if we had spent these other -- these are the reasons we didn't spend all the money --


MR. BEHARRIELL:  And here's how -- and the result at the bottom is how that would compare back to 2013 Board-approved.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, I get it, thank you.

MR. PASTIRIK:  You know what would be helpful?  How about if you look at that Port Colborne service-centre closure.  That might be an easier one to explain.  So is that 35,000 under Port Colborne service-centre closure additional costs you incurred because you closed the centre?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  No, so that's a savings by closing the centre.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Okay.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  And we had the full cost of that centre in our 213 Board-approved.

MR. PASTIRIK:  I understand.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  So in 2013 we saved 35,000 of that cost --


MR. PASTIRIK:  Oh --


MR. BEHARRIELL:  -- and that's where I said it's presenting a running total.  If you look at the 2JB you would see a 35,000 cost driver and the 20,000 the next year, so it's presenting that as a continuing running total.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Okay, thank you.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yeah.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, thank you.

MR. TAYLOR:  Do you want to move on to the next tab?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  So, yes, I will move on to tab 5.  So what this table does, we thought it would be helpful to the Board panel and to others, Table 2JB -- or Appendix 2JB in the application, contains a number of cost drivers that were quantified.  What we have done for those is we have referenced different places in the evidence where those were discussed.  We have also tied those back to what the cost driver was, you know, if it was a legislative requirement or if it relates to RFE outcomes or provides value to the customer.  So we have summarized those.

As the table continues to the second page, we have done the same thing for cost drivers that were not included in 2JB because they were either immaterial or they were not quantified, and we have done the same thing.  We have referenced them back to evidence and we have discussed RRFE outcomes, value to customer, and legislative drivers.

MR. TAYLOR:  So one of the programs that you have proposed for the test year is the Emerald Ash Borer program, and you have included $100,000 in OM&A for that program.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's correct.

MR. TAYLOR:  And there are materials included at tab 6 regarding that program.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes, so the materials at tab 6 are meant to elaborate -- on the summary table, we discuss collaboration with customers and municipal stakeholders and we believe that's an important item of the RFE.

So what these articles and materials are doing is they are showing -- the first article, for example, discusses the municipality of Fort Erie, how the Emerald ash tree issue is impacting the municipality, how they are taking it seriously, how they are increasing budgets to deal with these trees and remove trees.

And they are also reminding, or encouraging private landowners to remove impacted trees themselves for safety reasons.  How that ties into our Emerald Ash Borer program is that the bulk of the spending on that program is working with those stakeholders, whether it's the municipality, whether it's private landowners, to either create a safe zone for them to remove trees that are otherwise too close to our power lines, or to trim the tree a little further back than we normally would so that they can then remove it without encroaching on safe limits of work nearby the power lines.

So the second item in this tab following that article is a summary of the Fort Erie 2016 budget adjustments that shows they are ramping-up that program in the municipality of Fort Erie.

MR. TAYLOR:  That's point 1.2 under part 5 of the first page titled the "Municipal Corporation of the Town of  Erie council and budget committee meeting #5 agenda", is that correct?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's correct, yes.

MR. TAYLOR:  So then in 2016, they have increased the budget by $200,000.  And then going back to the first article, where it says on the first page that in 2016, the town will be spending 468,000.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. TAYLOR:  So that includes the 200,000, to the best of your knowledge?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That would be my understanding as I read these articles, yes.

MR. TAYLOR:  And there is one more article included.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  And so the final article is discussing the same Emerald Ash Borer issue in the city of Port Colborne, which is another large part of our service area.  They are also spending money on tree removals, and they are quite focussed on the public safety aspect of this issue.

And on the first page of the article, I could draw your attention to -- I think it's the fourth paragraph from the bottom that starts with, "The tree issue has always been important", and basically that's where this program originated.  In November 2015, it's my understanding that there was a fatality in Port Colborne from a tree failure.

Since then, you know, we have had discussions with the municipality.  They have asked us what we can do to support their tree trimming efforts and while we can't simply remove trees that are not a hazard to our power lines, we believe we can work with them to make it more efficient for them to remove trees on their own.

Where we would normally trim a tree to a certain extent so that it didn't impact our power lines, if that tree now has an increased risk of dying and completely falling over rather than simply just growing in towards the power line, it's to our benefit and to their benefit if we can make it safer and more cost effective for them to remove those trees.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay, thanks.  Let's move on to tab 7.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Okay.  So tab 7 is quite similar to tab 5, and this is taking any cost savings and productivity improvements that were either included in 2 JB or discussed throughout the application or the IR process, and providing the same summary.  If there was a cost included in 2 JB, it's providing that cost.  It's referring to the various pieces of evidence where those issues were discussed and it's talking about the value to customers.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  What is tab 8 about?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Tab 8 provides an update and adjustments to the PEG benchmarking model.  The forecasting model was introduced this past summer as a filing requirement, so it was after we filed the initial application we filed various versions of that model throughout the interrogatory process.

So it's making an adjustment and it's also correcting an issue with previous versions.  So the issue being corrected is that the previous versions include CNPI specific weighted average cost of capital input.  That was simply an oversight and an error on my part.  When reviewing the PEG documentation, the prior benchmarking results, the model uses the OEB-deemed WACC values.  So it was simple correction and update of those values.

The more substantive adjustment here is an adjustment for other revenue.  So what we found, as we were going through the interrogatory process, we were making adjustments on a number of issues.  At some point, we were trying to update the model for an adjustment to other revenue, where we agreed to an increase of $100,000.  And what we found is basically while all the costs associated with that other revenue are included in the model, the revenue offsets in the other revenue accounts are not.  So we have a cost in the model, but we don't have the matching benefit of the other revenue offset.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay -- let me interrupt you.  Your stretch factor cohort right now is number 4, is that correct?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's correct, yes.

MR. TAYLOR:  And the stretch factor is based on a total cost of $27,280,821 --


MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's forecast, yes.

MR. TAYLOR:  Sorry, that's for the forecast.  For 2017, it's 23 -- let's look at 2016.  It doesn't matter, but let's look at 2016, $23,534,557.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. TAYLOR:  And so what you have done -- actually, no, you have haven't done anything for that.  You started in 2017, the test year.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's correct, yes.

MR. TAYLOR:  My apologies.  So your actual total forecasted cost for the PEG benchmark or the econometric model would be $23,992,198?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. TAYLOR:  You have subtracted in line B your other revenues, and you have come out with a revised actual cost.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Right.

MR. TAYLOR:  Of 22 million 536.  Now your predicted cost from PEG would be 20 million 444 thousand.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. TAYLOR:  So relative to your actual cost before making any adjustment, there would be a difference of $3,547,540.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Correct.

MR. TAYLOR:  And that difference would basically put you into the fourth cohort, because the difference between the predicted cost and the actual cost would be 16 percent.  Is that correct?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes, and the 16 percent is a logarithmic calculation, but yes.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  So what you have done is when you have adjusted in line B for other revenues, you come up with line F, which is the difference with other revenue offset.  So the difference between what your total cost would be, less your revenue offsets, minus the predicted total costs from the econometric model, would be $2,091,346.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Correct.

MR. TAYLOR:  And that difference represents a 9.7 percent difference between predicted and forecasted?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Correct.

MR. TAYLOR:  And that would put you -- going down towards the bottom, that would put you in the third cohort.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's correct.  And I do want to confirm that we are not suggesting CNPI should be assigned to the third cohort.  We have simply added lines to highlight issues with the model.  So we are presenting, you know, in the non-highlighted line the model result as is, and in the highlighted lines what we perceive as an issue with the model.

MR. TAYLOR:  I see.  So your productivity based on the PEG analysis doesn't look great, because you are in the fourth cohort.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Correct, yes.

MR. TAYLOR:  All right.  So you are trying to demonstrate with this table that in fact it's actually not so bad, you are right in the middle.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  Normally we don't object to this sort of thing, but my friend is leading his direct-evidence witness in a very obvious way.  His witness is only saying yes.  Surely this should be his witness's statements, not his.

MR. TAYLOR:  You know what, I will -- he is correct, and I will change.

So I guess I could ask you the question then, you know, if you are setting off your other revenues, couldn't the same thing apply to all LDCs who have other revenues?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Right.  And that's the basis for the inclusion of tab 9, because that's an obvious first question, you know, wouldn't the other revenue issue impact all LDCs equally.  So we did two separate analysis.  And again, I am not suggesting that this analysis is concrete to the point where we are saying the PEG model should be replaced, I am suggesting that in light of it being introduced as a filing requirement halfway through our proceeding, where it was never a requirement in the cost-of-service context previously, that we are using the opportunity to present our perceived issues with the model.

So the first analysis is just from the 2015 OEB yearbook, and what we have done is we have taken the total service revenue from distribution for each utility, and we have taken the other income line item and just done a simple calculation on what percentage of total income is other income.  And you can see Canadian Niagara Power is an outlier, in terms of that analysis.

And recognizing that that doesn't tie directly to revenue requirement, there is things that could be in that other income line item that don't directly relate to other revenue accounts, we did a further analysis where, starting in 2017 and working backwards, we took every cost of service or customer IR revenue-requirement work form on the record for those years, and we took these values, revenues from service distribution and -- sorry, distribution revenue, other revenue, and total revenue from the revenue-requirement work forms for those three years and did a similar calculation, what percentage of revenue comes from other revenue.  And again, this shows CNPI as above average in terms of other revenue.

And I want to stress, when we did the adjustment presented in tab 8 we did not include all the other revenue accounts, we only included the net total of the three accounts that relate to revenues and costs associated with the services we provide to affiliates and associates.

MR. KING:  Can I jump in and just add something on other revenue?  Just to highlight a change in the methodology that happened in 2017.  So we had a change in our approach, and you likely saw it in the evidence with respect to what we called shared assets, and these are assets that our IT system in particular that's used by all our associated company, be it Canadian Niagara Power, Algoma Power, Cornwall Electric, and those assets previously -- in past rate application we notionally allocated a piece of IT equipment, for example, as part of rate base, and it was always based out of CNPI, so it came out of CNPI, Fort Erie, and got allocated to others, so that was our methodology for rate-making purposes historically, and in the last Algoma Power application the Board said, well, we are not -- or the Board Staff said, well, we are not comfortable with that methodology, can you change your methodology, and so on a go-forward basis -- so all the IT assets related to Fortis Ontario for that matter are included in CNPI.  So the rate base is a little larger because of that.

To offset that what we did is we now, as other revenue, included costs associated with that.  So we charged the depreciation amount and the cost of capital plus taxes as other revenue, and so it gets to the same answer, but just a different methodology.

And I guess to highlight here, on top of these large numbers here, so in 2017 we added this other revenue where our costs were down below under depreciation and OM&A, et cetera.  We didn't get any credit for it in the PEG methodology, and that's the point I am trying to make.  We didn't get credit for that, so it's just something new that happened.  It's in your evidence here, but I just wanted to highlight that.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay, can we turn to tab 10, please.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes, so --


MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, before we leave tab 9 can I just ask a question?  How -- on the second page you have got negative signs beside some of the revenue from service distribute -- like, in the A column, and then you have got negative percentages?  How -- I don't quite understand what that means.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  And likewise I don't understand from looking at the yearbook what those negative values imply.  That's part of the reason we went to the further step of taking all those revenue-requirement work forms.  A, it was more accurate, and B, it was more directly related to the issue, although it was more work.

MS. SPOEL:  Great, thanks.

MR. TAYLOR:  So at tab 10 you have got your Board Staff -- there is a Board Staff report on community meetings.  And that was filed on November 11th, 2016.

Is there anything you wish to add to Board Staff's assessment of the community meetings?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  What I would like to point out is in section 3, the summary of the meetings, both for the Port Colborne meeting and the Gananoque meeting, there is a summary of the specific issues raised, and it does mention non-distribution issues in addition to the issues related to our application.

From being in attendance and presenting at both of those meetings, I'd like to add that the non-distribution issues from my perspective dominated the discussion and the questions in those meetings.  And so I think that takes me to tab 11.  What we have done with tab 11 and tab 12 is we have provided a summary of things that we have done since those meetings as a takeaway from the customer feedback.  We do believe that customer feedback is important.  These community-day meetings associated with our rate application were something new to us.

But, you know, despite all the attention given to non-distribution issues, there were customers that made valid points in both meetings regarding areas that they saw opportunity for improvement or areas where they saw concerns with past performance.

So Port Colborne, one of the issues that stuck out with us was, one gentleman -- and this was alluded to in the Board Staff report -- made a presentation on the closure of the Port Colborne service centre and how that affected seniors or those with limited mobility, that even though the two towns are adjacent, it's that much further for them to try to make it to the service centre in Fort Erie to talk to someone in person.  You know, there is public transportation between the two communities.  It's, you know, probably not to the level of frequency and standards that you would be used to in somewhere like Toronto, for example.

So what we did following that meeting is we undertook a pilot program this past fall, where each month we set up one day in the community where a representative from customer service as well as a CDM specialist would go out to Port Colborne for a day.  We found a venue that would host us.  We invited customers to come in.  We had them sign up ahead of time so that we could look up their accounts, you know, look into any issues that they might have, and it was just an opportunity for them to meet with a customer-service specialist and a CDM specialist face to face, ask questions, get answers, discuss anything else they wanted to discuss.

We did some marketing to make the community aware of those meetings.  We did have -- you know, the first one was fairly quick after the community meeting.  We only had three customers attend, but we did see the registration climb up to ten and then nine customers the following two months.

So overall we believe that it was a successful pilot.  We are going to continue those efforts in Port Colborne, as well as in Gananoque next year, and Gananoque is, you know, it's even further.  It's, you know, probably a five-hour drive from the Fort Erie area, so customers obviously aren't going to drive to the office to come talk to us.  And it's a two-hour drive to our Cornwall work centre, which is our affiliate that does a lot of the customer service issues in Gananoque.  So we are going to expand that out to those customers as well.

That takes me to tab 12, and I will turn it over to my colleague, Jie, in a second here --


MR. TAYLOR:  Before we go there, can we go back to tab 10?  When you said that non-distribution issues dominated the community meetings, can you just be a little bit more specific, give some details about what those issues were or how much time they took up, or what percentage of the people there were there to deal with distribution versus non-distribution issues?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Okay.  So I guess the two meetings were held back-to-back on consecutive days and from my perspective, they were quite different meetings.  Customers in Port Colborne were quite agitated, quite vocal, and much of that frustration was focussed on renewable energy policy, commodity rates, global adjustment.  We got questions about energy storage, we got questions about electricity exports to New York, we got questions about why couldn't our rates be cheaper given our proximity to Niagara Falls.

So in my mind, those types of questions really dominated that meeting.  There was a lot of yelling.  There was a lot of people interrupting each other.  We had people tell us they didn't care to hear the rest of our presentation at the beginning of the meeting.

You know, in terms of an actual percentage of time on CNPI issues versus those issues, I'd only be guessing.  I mean, I was wrapped up in trying to present some material and dealing with some customers individually in that meeting, so my perception may be different than someone else's perception.

In terms of the Gananoque meeting, I guess I will clarify.  When I said non-distribution issues, that was more in the context of the Port Colborne meeting.  Gananoque also had some questions about the same types of issues, global adjustment, renewable energy policy.  But actually the dominant discussion at that meeting, sorry, was a distribution issue; not a rate issue, but a reliability issue. And that is what my colleague here will get into.

MR. TAYLOR:  Before we do go there, what was that reliability issue?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  So that reliability issue was -- and this was brought up throughout the interrogatory process, is the town of Gananoque has historically had quite remarkable reliability, actually.  In the past number of months, we have had several loss-of-supply issues with Hydro One.  One was a substation fire, a couple were cars hitting poles, a lot of issues really outside of our control that resulted in multiple, very prolonged outages within a short period of time.  So there was a lot of frustration around that, and customers wanted to know what we were doing about that issue.

MR. TAYLOR:  And what about the supply issue?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  The supply issue -- I mean, we did our best to explain to the customers the concept of being an embedded distributor to Hydro One.  I am going to say by the time we got to that level of detail, they weren't interested in hearing the explanation that many of those outages were caused by another entity.  They were just focussed on getting a solution.  Whether it was us, whether it was Hydro One, they didn't care where the outages came from; they wanted an answer as to what CNPI, as their direct service and utility, was doing about it.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay, thanks.  Mr. Han, are you going to talk about the EOP reliability presentation that's at tab 12?

MR. HAN:  Yes.  I want to just to recap the reliability issue a little bit, and Greg mentioned that particular issue.

The Town of Gananoque and associated area, the nearby area, was supplied by one single line 44 KV, 35 kilometres from one of the Hydro One TS, and that particular 44 KV line was owned by and operated by Hydro One.  About 7 kilometers of that line was joint use with the EOP line, with the CNPI line.  Basically, it is a double circuit.  They are on top, we are on the bottom; we own the line.

Over the 20-month period between 2015 -- February 2015 to August 2016, there were seven outages on that particular line and totalling roughly 40 hours outages to every customer.  Because that line failed, everybody's gone.

So the very last one, August 10th, is a very hot summer day.  The outage started in the morning and didn't restore until late, late afternoon; it is almost 10 hours.  And as the town is a tourist area, they rely on the hotels, the restaurants, and the people rely on tourists for their business, for their livelihood, and they are very, very upset.

During May of 2016, we had conversation with Hydro One after one of the failures of the system.  It was temporary failure; it was two or three hours.  We had a discussion with Hydro One, and Hydro One gave us the preliminary option to say it's going to cost you anywhere between four to 10 million dollars to fix the problem.  And after this, August 10th we officially sent a letter to Hydro One to request a collaboration of options to resolve the issue.

In September, on the 7th, we encouraged the town -- had a town hall meeting with the customer on the topic of power supply to the town.  We had over 50 people attend it,  and they are not very happy.  They shouted at us, basically saying you guys didn't do anything, which is true because the line is not -- we do not own the line.

On the 14th of September, which is the engagement meeting organized by OEB.  That's the one Greg mentioned. About 100 people attended and once again, this becomes a dominant topic.  And we had a meeting, we -- I made a presentation on the rate application, but obviously the issue is not rates, it's the reliability.

So previous to that meeting, we already had a meeting set up with Hydro One to resolve this issue.  Hydro One responded to our letter and on the 15th of September, we had a meeting with Hydro One and Hydro One committed to make a feasibility study of options by November the 15th.  We also had a technical discussion with Hydro One in between about options, possible options.  So on November 11th, Hydro One contacted us to say we have a preliminary report and we met.  And on November the 15th, Hydro One issued a final report to us.  In that, they outlined four different options.  The price of those four different options is ranging from 10.75 million to $106 (sic); it depends on which option we are talking about.

And then we took the report and we did a further analysis, and we finalized a report in early December and submitted to -- sent it to the Town of Gananoque.  On December the 15th, we had a meeting with the town officials and also the local MPP, and I made a presentation about those four options and the consequences of those four options, and the work we did during the past two months and how we get there and made the recommendation.

And the town basically accepted our recommendation and also appreciated our effort, and they told us they noticed the effort we made and the people in town noticed our employee running around doing analysis and doing field surveys, and they agreed to recommend those recommendations we made to them to their council, and they actually invited me to do a presentation to their full council early in the new year.

So the recommendation we made instead of -- the four options -- there are two options that talk about the actual second supply ranging from $6 million to 10.75 million; that's the Hydro One price.  We have to modify our substation, another $750,000.  So we think it's too expensive.  Even though the result will be better, but it's too expensive for 436 customers.  Our recommendation is 3 and 4, which involving installing some switches and also rebuild some of our joint-use lines, which will also improve reliability, not as much, but the cost of those projects, those recommendations, can be absorbed by our own capital programs, because the major section of that joint-use line, we did a pole testing, and it is not in very good shape.  We need to do that line anyway.  So it's maybe moved the investment one or two years ahead.  And as a result we could resolve the technical issue.

So at this point, I think from the town's perspective, the case is closed in terms of investigation and recommendation.  And they are looking forward to our next step.  And from our perspective, our DSP does not need major modification.  We will revise to reflect the timing and move on to rebuild those lines in 2017 and 2018.

MR. TAYLOR:  And just to clarify for the panel, we didn't include this for the purpose of including new costs in our rate application.  Board Staff in its submission on the settlement proposal requested that we provide an update on how this issue is playing out with the community, and so that's why it's been included.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. TAYLOR:  And with that we are done.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Taylor.

Who is cross-examining first this panel?  Is it you, Mr. Aiken?

MR. AIKEN:  That will be.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  I am going to be referring to my compendium, so if I could ask to get that marked.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Exhibit K1.3. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  ENERGY PROBE CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR CNPI PANEL 2.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  I am starting on page 3 of the compendium.  And on pages 3 and 4 you will find the response to 4-Energy Probe-14.  And I had sent a letter to CNPI last week which was filed with the Board giving advance notice of some potential undertakings so that we could have the information available during the hearing rather than following it.  One of those requests was to update the table in part (b) of the response, which is on page 3 of the compendium, to reflect the most recent actuals available if actuals for the entire year are not yet available, which I assume they are not, given that we are barely out of December, and the second request was to update response to part (c) of the response, which is on the following page, to provide the current estimate of the actual 2006 OM&A costs, assuming year-to-date figures were not available.

So do you have that information for us?

MR. VANDER VLOET:  We have the -- certainly we have the November year-to-date current-year versus prior-year values.  I was able to compile them.  Unfortunately I don't have a printout for you, but I would be happy to read them off for you if that would be helpful --


MR. AIKEN:  Yeah, I just -- I just -- I am only interested in the total numbers, not the breakdown.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Sure.  Okay, so 2015, November year-to-date total OM&A is $8.705 million, and as compared to 2016, November year-to-date actuals of $8.913 million.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And then the estimate I requested for part (c)?

MR. KING:  So for part (c), as Brian mentioned, as you mentioned, we don't have, obviously, 12 months' numbers.  Year-to-date OM&A was $8.9 million.  It's difficult to get an exact number for December 2015, but I would expect the spend to be in the range of $800,000 to a million dollars.  Thus our full-year forecast would be somewhere in the range of 9.7 to 9.9.  You know, that's a prediction, but -- obviously like any forecast, but that's the range we expect to be in.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.

I want to turn to the cost driver table which I have included on page 5 of the compendium.  And the first thing I want to explore is why the actual 2013 OM&A expenses were significantly below the Board-approved figures.  And if you look at the last rebasing-year column, I take it that the opening balance of $9,000,835, that was the Board-approved figure; is that correct?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And the 8.864 million at the bottom, that's what your actual 2013 expenses were.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And am I correct that the Board-approved number was a number that came out of the settlement agreement?  Your forecast was actually higher than that in your 2013 rates case?  Will you take that subject to check?

MR. KING:  Subject to check.  I can't recall the 2013 particulars, I am sorry.

MR. AIKEN:  So going through the items on the lines between these two figures and the explanations that are provided in the evidence that followed this table, would I be correct that some of the reductions were one-time adjustments, while others are permanent reductions, and some others are just timing differences?  Those are the three types of differences we have?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Generally, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So starting with the CDM staffing
-- this is the $85,000 reduction -- I take it that was a one-time reduction in 2013 that has now been offset by increases in 2014 and '16; correct?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And the vehicle depreciation, the $351,000 reduction, that was a one-time reduction related to depreciation.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Correct.  It was a mis-classification, shall I say, in how we classified the vehicle depreciation credit.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah, you booked it as an OM&A expense and it should have been a depreciation expense.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And the approved IFRS adjustment, the $85,000 reduction in '13 and the increase in '14, that's just a timing issue.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And that had to do with -- you probably had a variance account from the Board to deal with that.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.  And then the Port Colborne service-centre closure and the regulatory staffing reductions appeared to be permanent reductions; is that correct?

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And then the customer-service staffing changes and change-outs -- and we see differences across all the columns there.  And let me see if I have got this right.  These changes were due to the charge out to Algoma Power for the billing functions in 2013 and '14, and then the reduction in 2015 and the subsequent increase in 2016 of $30,000 is because some of the costs were allocated to a capital project in 2015; that's the way I understood your evidence; is that correct?

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Certainly the first part is correct.  I just have to reconfirm that last sentence or two there.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  What I am getting at was you allocated part of a person's time to a capital project, and that's why those costs didn't show up in OM&A.  That capital project is over, so now they are back into OM&A.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then moving beyond the variances between the Board-approved and actual 2013 to the bridge and test years, I have got a few questions.  You have an increase of $150,000 in the bridge year for the pole-testing program, and you provide an explanation for this cost at the top of page 6 of the compendium, and it says you plan on spending 75,000 on testing each year and $75,000 on repairs in each year for a period of six years; is that correct?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Correct, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you explain to me why none of the $75,000 to accommodate immediate pole repairs each year would be capitalized?

MR. HAN:  This repairment is not for pole repairment. This repairment is for immediate and near term repairment.  For example, if we have a broken insulator, a broken cross arm, or a guide guard is missing, in our world, those one-time miscellaneous expense is operating expense.

MR. AIKEN:  So they don't extend the useful life of the asset?

MR. HAN:  No, because when we replace the pole later on, the cross arm we replaced three years ago is gone.

MR. AIKEN:  And the total cost associated with this project over six years is $900,000, if my math is right.  My question is could this program be elongated to, say, ten years?  And if not, why not?

MR. HAN:  This program was introduced as a part of the DSP and we have -- there's two reasons.  One is our DSP is a five-year cycle.  The second one is that the OEB -- we have an inspection program that runs a six-year cycle as well.  So we want to coincide with that and after this inspection, we will look at the inspection results and determine whether we want to do another round or want to sit on it for a few years.

So this is one of those things.  We say, okay, we have a six-year cycle already, and we have a five-year cycle in our DSP.  So let's do that within the inspection cycle and get it over with.

This will be the major input in our DSP programs.

MR. AIKEN:  One of the other questions I sent you last week was to provide the actual amount spent in 2016, or your estimate of what was spent in 2016, broken out into the two components, the testing and the repairs.

MR. HAN:  The program was started -- we started to develop a scope of work this summer after we have our DSP finished, and we went out to tender in -- I think in July and August, and we selected -- we select the tester and they started work October and November.  The work is completed at end of November, and the amount of money we spent on that particular component is $75,000, very close to what we estimated.

However, the repairment was not get done yet, the majority are not get done yet because of the timing issue.  So our plan is to get the repairment going on in the early part of 2017.  And then in 2017, we will start the testing in the spring, the scope of work already completed, the GS system already -- you know, the enhancement already developed to accommodate the data, so we can start the next phase of testing in the spring of 2017 and get the repairment started in the summer and fall of 2017.

So from the cost perspective, in 2016 we spent approximately $75,000 on the testing, we spent next to nothing on repairment other than a couple things we immediate -- the intention is has to be done.  But in 2017, we are expecting to do all the repairments and whether it's a $75,000 or not, I don't know, but that depends on the work, and we will do $75,000 worth of testing in 2017.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Moving on in the cost driver table, the next item is the missed O&M and the explanation for this increase in 2016 of 44,000 is shown at the bottom of page 6, also in the compendium.

And when I look at Exhibit 9, tab 3, schedule 2, which I believe the explanation refers us to, this is a smart meter model for electricity distributors, and if I go to the OM&A expenses portion, I see two costs.  The first is 28,200 for communication costs from third party providers; I take it that's an going expense.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And that's the telephone, essentially.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And the second expense included in the 44,000 is roughly 16,000 for costs for time of use rate implementation, CIS system upgrade, web presentation and integration with MDMI.

Now, these expenses sound like they are one time in nature; am I wrong?  Or are they ongoing costs?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Sorry, could you repeat that list?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, it's time of use rate implementation, CIS system upgrade, web presentation, and implementation with MDMR.  Are those one-time costs or are they ongoing annual costs?  I wasn't clear.

MR. KING:  What was your reference for that?

MR. AIKEN:  This would be from Exhibit 9, tab 3, schedule 2.  I don't have it in front of me, but there is a breakout there in the smart meter model of the OM&A costs.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Apologies, I don't have -- I know there is a small little write-up within the application, and I am just trying to find it here.

But to the best of my knowledge, that portion of the OM&A incremental is more directly related to all of the information that comes from the third party service provider and getting it to the point where we can actually bill the customer.  So it's -- whether it be performing annual rate testing procedures as well as any other effort that's required -- incremental effort that's required to get the information to the point where we can actually bill it to the customer.

MR. AIKEN:  So it's not really -- like, you know, a CIS system upgrade.  I would assume that's a one-time upgrade that you need to do because of the installation of the MIST meter.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  And that would have been covered off in the capital portion of that model that you are referring to in Exhibit 9, schedule 3 -- or tab 3, schedule --


MR. AIKEN:  We are at the OM&A expenses there.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I found the reference you are speaking of, so maybe I can clarify that a little bit.  I believe it's one page down, at the top right-hand side.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, right there.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  So these are the costs you are speaking of.  So the list on the left-hand side you referenced, that was a generic description in the smart meter model.  So we have used that placing the model for costs that are similar in nature, but they may not be directly those costs as described.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So these are also ongoing costs?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  They are ongoing costs, yes.

MR. KING:  Can I just bring you back to customer service for a second?  I just want to highlight one thing, sorry.

In customer service, we talk about doing capital work and charging out time.  I should also just note that with the closing of the Port Colborne service centre, there was one FTE eliminated as well as some automation, maybe the automation as well.  So there are some ongoing persisting savings there.

MR. AIKEN:  Back in the cost driver table, the next item is the EAB program, which is the Emerald Ash Borer program, and it's explained at the top of page 7 of my compendium.  Is the cost for this included in your vegetation management budget?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  No, it is separate and distinct from our vegetation management budget.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you -- again, this was in the letter I sent last week.  What was the actual amount spent on vegetation management in each of 2012 through '16?

MR. VANDER VLOET:  So once again, apologies; I don't have a printout for you.

MR. AIKEN:  No, that's fine.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  But just very quickly, we did some digging and were able to pull up that for 2012.  Approximately $478,000 was spent on vegetation management for Canadian Niagara Power, so that would include the Niagara and Gananoque regions.  $430,000 approximately for 2013.  $481,000 approximately for 2014.  For 2015, $464,000, and approximate projection of about $446,000 for 2016, based on November year-to-date actuals.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And so this $100,000 is somewhere in the neighbourhood of a 20 to 25 percent increase compared to your historical vegetation management; is that correct?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now what is the time frame over which you expect to spend at this level?  Are we talking five years, ten years?  Like, how long is this program, or this...

MR. HAN:  As you -- as earlier you saw, the -- this EAB problem is a -- we are in a defensive or reactive mode right now, because we are not actually going or cutting the trees, we are serving the customer who wants to cut those dead trees, but the dead trees, there is a process.  They have to be dead first, and then the municipal want to go there to cut them, second.  Then we will get in.  That's why the issue was in 2013, but we didn't really react until now.

Now, the towns and the cities started to pile up their money to do this program.  We are saying, okay, if they increase their capital we better be prepared.  So what we are proposing here is we are going to make their cutting a little bit easier and safer, and this is what it is.

So if you look at the number of trees, we did a survey, we did a study.  In Port Colborne alone there is over 6,500 trees near the power line.  It's not all the trees related, it is just near the power line.  And what we did is, the methodology is we drove along our power line.  The tree we can see, and is the tree going to fall on to our line, those are the trees.  And then further detailed analysis shows that about 40 percent -- or 60 percent of those lines, of those trees, is potentially falling on to our line.  The other 40 percent have nothing -- you know, if they fall the likelihood is not in our direction, is on the customer direction.

So in those analysis we are looking at somewhere about 4,000 trees can get to our line, but we have to wait until all these trees are dead, and also have to wait until the municipal to go to cut it.

So we don't -- we really do not know when they are going to do it.  So what we are proposing here is we are going to -- this is a kind of a pilot project to say, okay, this is what we are ready to do.  If you want to go to cut the tree completely, this is what we can do for you.  We can isolate the line, we can put a switch in the line, we can do the switching for you to make it safer, or, if it's too close to the power line, we can go to cut it somewhat so that makes it safer for you to cut.

So this is the program we prepare ourselves to do, and based on the past experience of cutting down trees, but not particular on these type of trees.  So one, the municipal stop doing this program, and we are going to stop, because we are more of a responsive party rather than an active person to go there and do things.

MR. AIKEN:  So I take it you're not sure how many years --


MR. HAN:  I am not sure how many years it is going to go.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, have you had any discussions with other electricity distributors with respect to their costs and how they have dealt with the emerald ash borer?  And I am thinking specifically of utilities like Integris, London Hydro, Brantford.  For example, Integris dealt with this problem, you know, five to ten years ago.

MR. HAN:  No.

MR. AIKEN:  Why not?  Why wouldn't you ask them, you know, gain some of their expertise on how to the deal with this and what they did?

MR. HAN:  We do not know.  They dealt with it -- somebody already dealt with this problem.  I thought this was new.  We are actually the first few to deal with this issue, because this thing has migrated from the Atlantic they exist, it didn't come in until recently, so I didn't realize this, ten years ago they already got this problem.

MR. AIKEN:  So you didn't realize that this problem came in from Michigan through southern Ontario?

MR. HAN:  I don't know where the -- I thought it was from the Atlantic, but somehow they get over here.  I am not sure where -- exactly where they are coming from.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Turning to load dispatching, back on the cost driver table, the explanation provided on page 8 of the compendium, which we were just at, or next to -- sorry, page 7 -- is that staff will be assuming on-call duties on a full-time basis.

So my question is does this mean that CNPI's control room is currently not staffed 24 hours a day and no one's on-call when it's not staffed?  I am trying to understand the change in your actual staffing and on-call status.

MR. HAN:  Currently our CNPI control room is staffing only one shift.  It is from 7:30 to 3:30 or something like that.  The after-hours, we have a call centre to respond to our calls, and we have an arrangement with a call centre, and this is just a generic call centre, and they call -- when they get a no-power call they just directly forward that call to -- we have an on-call list, our linemen on-call list, and they call those people on the -- call the name on the list, and they have a process to do that.

And once the on-call person are on the road and they identify the issue is major, there is another set of process to deal with, either to call a second person out or to call the supervisor in, it's a major problem.

MR. AIKEN:  So am I correct that the benefit of this for ratepayers is that they will get a quicker response to outages?

MR. HAN:  The new program, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, okay.  And then are there any savings associated with this?  There are obviously additional costs, but do your call-centre costs, for example, go down?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  The main driver associated with this is really a worker safety driver.  You know, as we get more SCADA devices online the system becomes more complex in terms of what you can and can't operate over SCADA.  We have a new OMS system online that would be useful in these situations.

So an on-call supervisory rotation of someone doing this on a very infrequent basis, the system starts to get to the point where that person who is doing it so infrequently wouldn't have the proper knowledge to operate it in a manner that's safe for the workers without perhaps significantly prolonging the restoration time or having to call the normal operator in anyways.

MR. AIKEN:  So this really is not about the control room, it's about the people who are sent out to fix the problem.

MR. HAN:  There is -- okay, so when an outage call comes in a lineman get the call, and if it's a minor issue, the lineman and his buddy can fix the problem, they will fix the problem.  But when they need additional resource and they need to call, right now, before this thing was implemented, we have a staff on-call rotation, so the supervisor, operating department supervisor, taking that responsibility, and to direct if they have two crews out there and then you have a switch, if a device needs to be switched, they perform that portion in the office or on the computer.

However, as the SCADA system, as the GS system, as the OMM system implemented, the member we have on the on-call staff is not the line person, it is the office staff, requires additional training, but they are in a supervisory position, and they do not -- their day-to-day job is not doing that.

So as a result, we actually trained additional staff with operating experience to take on that responsibility.  And those people, unfortunately, are unionized, they are not doing it for free.  You have got to pay them.

MR. AIKEN:  There is nothing wrong with getting paid.

MR. HAN:  That is why we have a cost increase.

MR. AIKEN:  And then finally, on the cost driver table we have this miscellaneous line that's shown near the bottom, and there is a cumulative increase of about $500,000 from the 2013 Board-approved cost to the forecast for 2017 and an increase of more than 700,000 from the 2013 actual.

Can you provide some level of detail as to what's included in that increase?

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Sorry, Randy.  So at a high level, the miscellaneous line items, we weren't specifically identifying individual material items that drove the costs of O&M year over year.  And as a result, the miscellaneous is the sum of a significant amount of individually immaterial changes year over year, some of which we believe to be credited towards inflation.  And so, you know, for example, general wage and salary increases or other material item increases and their costs year over year.

Although, on an individual basis, we may not have been able to specifically quantify, generally speaking we believe that the sum of all of those little pieces of increases has led to that miscellaneous line item balance there.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  And if I can add, if I take you back to the tab that we went through at the beginning here, tab 4 of our materials, it does show that those miscellaneous amounts are roughly equal to inflationary values for each year.

MR. AIKEN:  So all the FTE changes, for example, are reflected in the other lines?  Like the regulatory, the Port Colborne reduction that you mentioned, Mr. King?

MR. KING:  Yes.  The FTE for the regulatory, as you said, is reflected above as it is for the Port Colborne service centre or with respect to customer service for the Port Colborne service centre and automation within the customer service.  They are above, but the regular inflation type items are.

MR. AIKEN:  Moving on to a different topic, in my letter of last week, I asked that CNPI provide an updated version of appendix 2L that shows the OM&A cost per customer and per FTE to include the most recent actuals or projection of actuals for the 2016 bridge year.  Do you have that information?

MR. KING:  We do not have that information.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to provide that information?

MR. KING:  We will.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We will make that undertaking, it will be J1.1. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATED VERSION OF APPENDIX 2L THAT SHOWS THE OM&A COST PER CUSTOMER AND PER FTE TO INCLUDE THE MOST RECENT ACTUALS OR PROJECTION OF ACTUALS FOR THE 2016 BRIDGE YEAR; TO CONFIRM WHETHER THE 71.25 INCLUDES THE CDM PERSON

MR. AIKEN:  And then sticking with appendix 2L -- and I am wondering if Mr. Buonaguro could bring a copy of that up on the screen?

I will tell you my question now while he is looking for it.  My question is:  Does appendix 2L reflect FTEs that are not included in the OM&A, that are included in the revenue requirement?  And I have three specific items that I want to confirm with you.

The first one is the customer service staffing and charge-outs explanation indicates that one FTE was reduced from the customer service department.  And my question is: Is that reflected in the 71.25 FTEs shown for 2013?

MR. KING:  Can you just wait until we get this up on the screen, and then we will talk to it?

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Appendix 2L in Exhibit 4.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Aiken, while Mr. Buonaguro is looking for that, do you have an estimate of how much time remains in your cross-examination?  I am just wondering when a suitable time for the lunch break is.

MR. AIKEN:  I am expecting about another half hour.

MS. SPOEL:  Maybe we should take a break now and come back at 1:30, and we can deal with this when we come back.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, that's fine.

MS. SPOEL:  That's acceptable.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:26 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:32 p.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Please be seated.  Okay, I see we have managed to find Appendix 2L, and Mr. Aiken, if you want to proceed, that would be great.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I had three clarifications on the FTEs used in Appendix 2L.  The first one is -- and we had mentioned this before -- the customer service staffing in charge-outs explanation in the cost driver table indicates that one FTE was reduced from the customer-service department, and so I take it that this is reflected in the 71.25 FTEs shown for 2013 when that reduction took place; is that correct?

MR. KING:  Yes.  Yes, it is.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then the second question is in the cost driver table there is a reduction in 2015 associated with a vacant IT position, and that reduction is reversed in 2016 when that position was filled.

So my question again is does the number of FTEs shown in Appendix 2L reflect a reduction in 2015 and an increase in 2016 related to this vacancy and the subsequent filling of the vacancy?

MR. KING:  My chart is moving in front of me here.

I do believe so, I do believe so.  It should fairly represent, and just to clarify, on the number and -- number of FTEs in Appendix 2L is -- given our operations, and we also change our methodology here as well -- Canadian Niagara Power is one company, and as I alluded to earlier, we share services with other companies, so included in Canadian Niagara Power is our transmission business or distribution business, some management who also work for other companies, so, you know, we struggle every time we file a rate application getting the proper FTE count, and I believe in our previous application we did sort of a total head count at CNPI, which is -- it was probably the most accurate number but, you know, probably not the most accurate number on just the plain distribution side, so this time we went in and said, okay, let's try to determine looking at the hours charged to CNPI distribution and get those hours, and that's what we did, you know, so this number is total, the other consideration is work done on operation, capital work, right?  So there is likely people in there that were doing capital work that got added as an FTE, and so you don't see that in -- when you calculate that in the Appendix 2K.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And then along the similar vein, the third question had to do with the CDM staffing, where you had the reduction of $85,000 that was offset in subsequent years.  So again, I just wanted to make sure that I understand that the...


MR. KING:  So in the early years with CD&M (sic), we had -- Michael, if you can just go back to the FTE chart.  In the early years with CD&M we didn't have a full-time E&DM staff and our staff were contributing to the E&DM, and then -- and starting in, I guess, in 2014 or so we hired full-time people or people that were otherwise -- that were part of CNPI became full-time staff at CD&M, so there were some transferred people around, so now we have a CD&M department that's separate and distinct.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah, and what I am trying to ensure is that, for example, if you look at Appendix 2L in the last rebasing year --


MR. KING:  Yeah.

MR. AIKEN:  -- you have got the 8.8 million in OM&A that does not include the 85,000, for example, for the CDM staffing individual, and I want to make sure that's comparable with the 71.25, in that the 71.25 would also not include that CDM person.  If their costs are not in, then I am assuming the FTEs are not in.

MR. KING:  Yeah, that would have to be subject to check.  I couldn't -- if you want me to confirm that one in particular I can -- for the CDM one I can confirm if that's what you are asking.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah, maybe you can make that part of Undertaking J1.1.

MR. KING:  Yup, okay, yup.

MR. AIKEN:  Back on the vegetation management that we talked about briefly before lunch, what's the difference between vegetation management and tree-trimming?

MR. HAN:  The -- generally it's the same, to answer your question, but in our operating orders we have tree-trimming on a cycle basis.  That is, you know, we can't ride it out on a three-year cycle to say, you know, you've got to become -- we divide our system into three area, and we have a -- that we call them vegetation management, but there are also miscellaneous tree-trimming, because there is a car accident or there is some projects need to get a tree trimmed.

So we have a little bit more budget there to do the miscellaneous stuff like customer complaints or, you know, that type of nature.  So sometimes there is a customer, we go to a place to build the line to the customer, we have got to cut trees, and that's not really our program per se, because the program is not covering that area, but we have to send people there to cut trees, so that's -- we sometimes call them tree-trimming.

MR. AIKEN:  So is that why -- it was pointed out to me over the lunch period that the numbers you gave for vegetation management, which generally are between 430- and 480,000, were substantially less than the tree-trimming budget or the annual expense for tree-trimming in the comparative bid to Pineridge Tree Service.

For example, in 2013 you said the vegetation management was 430,000 and the annual expense to Pineridge was 579,000.  So --


MR. HAN:  2013?

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.

MR. HAN:  If it's for CNPI?  Or as a whole?  You know, yearly what happens for Pineridge is they come in to bid on three years -- I have to qualify that.  The first time they bid on one year they did a great job, and then they come in to bid on two years because they finished the cycle, and then the last time they come in to bid on three years all together.

So the number they gave us a bid, it doesn't mean it's a one-year contract.  It could be a three-year contract.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, okay, then maybe if you could pull up Exhibit 4, tab 6, Schedule 1, because this shows numbers for 2012 through '15.

MR. HAN:  So there is another complication.  I cannot say from the numbers.  There is another complication.  It's a tree-trimming for a right-of-way of transmission line, so it's the same contractor.  They are bidding on that as well.

So if you --


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So the competitive bid that you show in Exhibit 4, tab 6, Schedule 1 for 2012 through '15 are not solely related to the distribution portion of CNPI?

MR. HAN:  I can't --


MR. KING:  Jie, just...

MR. HAN:  This table and our operating expense is related but not directly related, because when we go out to bid we try to get the volume so we can get a discount.  So all the work is all piled into one package.  It is not necessarily only on the distribution level, but also could be on the transmission level and also could be on some -- if we know there is a project we are going to do specifically, we are going to include that as well.

So it's the scope of work on those -- the contract level is different than the accounting side of the table.  So when we do the accounting side, we have to separate those bids into different purpose, and then we core that accordingly.

At this point I cannot give you a specific number to say that 500-some-thousand-dollar is consistent what.  If you want I can go back to ask them to find out.

MR. AIKEN:  I guess my question is is the difference between the annual expense shown in your evidence for Pineridge and the numbers you gave for vegetation management for your distribution portion of your company -- if the difference is related to the transmission portion of your company or other reasons why you did tree trimming, then that's fine.

MR. HAN:  Mostly it's transmission because we don't have any other business related to trees.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, so --


MR. HAN:  Either distribution or transmission, one of the two.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So the difference is, primarily if not all, transmission related?

MR. HAN:  Yes, that's right.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, that's fine.  A quick question here and you don't need to pull this up.  But in the response to 4-Staff-60, and this had to do with disconnection costs, you indicated the number of hours was doubling from 500 to 1000 hours between 2013 and 2017 related to an increase in the number of disconnects.

And then in the response to JTC1.8, your response shows an actual reduction in the number of disconnects between 2013 and '17.

I am wondering if you can explain why you are doubling the number of hours, and yet the number of disconnects is actually falling.  Your evidence at JTC1.8 shows 524 disconnects in 2013, and 501 for 2017.

MR. KING:  Mr. Aiken, I am not quite sure.  I'd be speculating if I was to try to answer that.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to reconcile those two responses?

MR. KING:  Will do.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking J1.2. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO RECONCILE THE FIGURES FOR DISCONNECTION COSTS in the RESPONSES TO 4-STAFF-60 AND UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.8.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now I am moving on, and the rest of my cross deals with material that you filed on Monday, and specifically tabs 8 and 9 in Exhibit K1.1.

And my first question is a very general one and that is:  What is the purpose of the adjusted cost benchmarking model that you filed on Monday?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  The purpose was just to present one issue that we discovered with the model as it applies to CNPI through the course of trying to complete the model that the OEB has recently introduced.

MR. AIKEN:  What's your understanding of the PEG model?  Is it a total cost benchmarking approach?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  The second question is also general in nature.  How does the adjusted model relate to the unsettled issues?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I think in terms of OM&A being an unsettled issue and to the extent that, you know, anyone today wants to discuss benchmarking results in relation to past or projected OM&A performance, then it could be helpful.

MR. AIKEN:  I will come back to the OM&A component of this in a minute.  But if you go to tab 8 and the first page -- sorry, the last page, I guess, in tab 8 shows the actual model.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And my understanding from the model you filed -- I think it was in the technical conference response to Board Staff back in November -- am I correct that the percent differences for 2016 and '17 have gone from 15.2 and 16.1 respectively, to the numbers you in here of 15.3 and 16.0?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Subject to check, that appears to be correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, when I tried to compare this model with the previous model that was filed, I noticed that the weighted average cost of capital was changed for both 2016 and '17, and I think you have explained that.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  But the other change was in the delivery volumes for both '16 and '17.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you explain why those volumes changed?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I would honestly have to undertake to provide a response on that, to check if it was an oversight in completing one version of the model versus the other, or if there was something going on between versions of the files that I had saved.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, let me -- before we get to whether I need an undertaking or not, I am especially interested in the 2017 test year number.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  And I looked in the model in the data input -- and maybe I should pull that up so I can make sure I am looking at the right number.

For 2017, you are using roughly 456 million kilowatt-hours as a delivery volume in your most recent version that you filed on Monday.  And my question is why does that not match the settlement agreement number, which is in table 14 of your settlement agreement, of 471 million, roughly, kilowatt-hours.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  That is what I would be more interested in, if you could explain the difference.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Give me one second.  I will find the table and see what I can find.

So I will take an undertaking on that, because I know the load forecast was adjusted through the course of the IR responses.  So there could be an issue of using one version of the load forecast versus another.

So I will take an undertaking to confirm that and if it was wrong, then I apologize for any oversight.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So that will be undertaking J1.3. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO EXPLAIN THE CHANGE TO THE FIGURES FOR DELIVERY VOLUMES FOR 2017 IN THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

MR. AIKEN:  Now, back on the last page of tab 8, the model results, what you have done here is you have reduced your total costs by the revenue offsets in accounts 4325, 4330 and 4375.

Now first in 4325 and 4330, am I correct that the OM&A costs incurred to earn those revenues are not in your OM&A costs, but they are in fact in account 4330?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I believe that's correct, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So the 23,992,198 would not include any OM&A related costs for those the services.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's correct, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And then for account 4375, which is -- my understanding is the recovery of the deprecation cost of capital and taxes associated with services provided to your affiliates.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  That does not include any OM&A cost?  The OM&A cost is in fact included in your, what I call top of the line OM&A, and then the revenue that you get from your affiliates that cover off that OM&A expense is a reduction in your OM&A.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Certainly as it relates to the shared services, that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  So, again, because they are in and out of the OM&A, it has no impact on that 23992 top line.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  The capital costs associated with those --


MR. AIKEN:  No, no, I am just talking about the OM&A costs.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Correct on the OM&A, yes.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I am back on the first page of tab 8, down near the bottom, about the fourth line from the bottom starts off: 
"Historically, the PEG model used amounts for gross asset addition for CNPI based on the RRR filings that failed to account for CNPI's historical practice of removing the costs of certain shared assets for rate-making purposes".

So with that statement, when I go back to the table at the end of tab 8, my question is, if you look at 2015 and '16, do those costs at line A, the total cost, include the costs associated with the assets that you are now backing out in line B in 2017 and beyond?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes, they do.

MR. AIKEN:  So the total costs are in there, and they are in there for 2017 and beyond, but then you are backing out those costs.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's correct, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Or the impact of those costs, okay.

My next question is based on the 2018 through 2021 numbers.  And I guess at the general level, what is the information that you provided for those years supposed to represent?  Or what is it to be used for in this proceeding?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  To the extent that OM&A and productivity were unsettled issues, realizing that we are in a cost-of-service application, not a custom IR application, it's providing a forecast of our trending for the results of the model.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So then if we could pull up the actual model.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Sure.

MR. AIKEN:  And look at the assumptions you have used in those years.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  So in -- and I am looking at the model inputs tab.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And at line 1 I see total gross capital additions.  I assume the numbers in '18 through '21 are from your distribution system plan.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's correct, adjusted for CIAC.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah, yeah.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah, they are the gross numbers, not the net.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yeah.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.  Then lines 3 and 4, which are the number of customers and the delivery volume, it looks to me as if you've just extended the trend in increasing customers and the decline in volumes from 2016 and '17 to the remaining four years; is that correct?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's correct, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Line 7 -- or, sorry, lines 5 and 6, annual peak demand and the distribution circuit kilometres don't change, so they are equal to the 2016 and '17 numbers.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And then the ten-year customer growth is just what falls out of your customer growth.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Absolutely.

MR. AIKEN:  Then lines 8 and 9 for wage growth and growth in economy, wide inflation, again you have used numbers that are equivalent to 2016 and '17 and just used those numbers going forward.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And then line 10, weighted average cost of capital, you have used the 2017 number.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Then in line 11, this is on OM&A.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  You've used 2 percent growth --


MR. BEHARRIELL:  Right.

MR. AIKEN:  -- in each of '18 through '21.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  And that's consistent with the O&M forecast presented in our DSP.

MR. AIKEN:  So you are projecting that your OM&A growth, beyond the test year, will be a fraction of what it is in your -- that it is in your bridge and test years.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's what we are projecting.

MR. AIKEN:  And how does that relate to your overall rate of inflation?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  We used 2 percent as a proxy for inflation.

MR. AIKEN:  But doesn't this model actually calculate the 30 and 70 percent wage -- for wage growth and the economy-wide and comes up with something like 2.3 percent?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I believe it does.  We used 2 percent consistent with our DSP.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then moving to tab 9 -- sorry, if you go back to the spreadsheet -- or to the -- I call it the CANARIE spreadsheet that's on the screen.  The removal of the other revenue offsets.  What would happen to your total actual cost if you did not provide services to your affiliates?  In other words, would your total costs for your billing system and everything else that's included in your assets that are allocated to your affiliates, would those costs go down or would those costs stay the same?

MR. KING:  Generally speaking, those costs would stay the same.  Obviously if there's -- people-wise there might be an ability to go down, but, you know, our billing systems are our billing systems.  On a per unit basis they are lower when there is more customers using the billing, so from that perspective they would go up.  There would be some variability there.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah, I was going to ask you, you can't have 90 percent of a billing system.

MR. KING:  That's right, yeah.

MR. AIKEN:  You have 100 percent of a billing system.

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah, okay.  So then moving to tab 9, again, kind of a general question that is specific to Canadian Niagara, and that is, can you explain the difference in the distribution revenues and other income shown here for CNPI, which is on the second line, the 18.5 and the 1.85 million, with the numbers shown in your evidence at Exhibit 3, tab 1, schedule 1, table 3.1.1.1, and specifically, without having -- pulling up on the numbers, here you are showing $18,555,000 as distribution revenue, whereas in your evidence for 2015 actuals you have 17 million and 500,000, and your other income, instead of 1.857 million, is 1.735 million.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  So the numbers in tab 9 were taken directly from the OEB yearbook.  I'd have to undertake to provide an analysis on why those numbers differ from table 3.1.1.1.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Maybe we can just wait for that undertaking if we need it.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Sure.

MR. AIKEN:  Because then I looked at, on the second page, and I looked at London Hydro in particular, because I just, you know, less than a month ago finished IRs on their application, and I looked at these numbers, 68 million in distribution revenue and minus 1.983 million in other income, and Chair Spoel touched on that this morning, what that negative number means, so I -- and those numbers didn't ring a bell with me from the London Hydro evidence that I had been going through, so I went back and looked at that London Hydro evidence in their current filing of EB-2016-0091, and what I found was that the 68.3 million that you got from the yearbook they are showing as 64.7 million, and the other income of minus almost 2 million, they actually showed actual revenue -- actual other revenue of four-and-a-half million.  So that's, I mean, that's a six-and-a-half million-dollar swing in that alone.  And those two changes would change that minus 3 percent in your column C to a 6.9 percent figure.

So I guess my question is, you know, for the undertaking, is could you undertake to explain the difference between the revenues from service and other income shown in the OEB yearbook and those shown for a utility generally, whether it be CNPI or London Hydro, but distribution revenue versus yearbook distribution revenue and, in particular, other income versus other revenue.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Just give me one second here.  So I think the general explanation is that the OEB yearbook values are based on the RRR filings, whereas values included in the revenue requirement work form are subject to certain adjustments for rate-making purposes.

MR. AIKEN:  So would I be correct, for example, that the other income could include gains or losses on disposition of assets that may not be included in other revenue, or clearance of deferral and variance accounts?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Sorry, I am really not aware of what would be included or excluded in all the other LDCs, other income lines from the year book.  I had alluded to that earlier; that's part of the reason we moved from the analysis to the second analysis we presented, that is actually based on the revenue requirement work forms for the current test year and the last two test years.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So based on what you file through the RRR filings, could you show the difference between the components that go into other income and distribution revenue from what's in there for, in your evidence, for regulatory purposes, just for CNPI?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Sure.

MR. KING:  Yes, we can do that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So that will be undertaking J1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO SHOW THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE COMPONENTS THAT GO INTO OTHER INCOME AND DISTRIBUTION REVENUE FROM WHAT'S IN THERE FOR REGULATORY PURPOSES, JUST FOR CNPI

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Aiken, it sounds like maybe quite a bit of work, and I am wondering what you are going to do with that information.  I understand one's general curiosity about how this works, but I am just wondering whether this is the kind of thing that's going to really assist in your argument and whether it's worth the work.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, I think it brings into focus whether the information in tab 9 is relevant, because it does not match the regulatory numbers.  And of course tab 9 is what's being relied on to provide the adjusted PEG model in tab 8.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  And so my next question on tab 9 is really a general question.  Is it your position that distributors with high ratios that are shown in column C are made to look less efficient through the PEG model?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's not my position at all.  Again, I alluded to this earlier.  We are not presenting this as our suggestion for incorporating a change to the PEG model.  We are presenting it as an issue that became apparent to CNPI's circumstances.

I have no idea whether the impact to other distributors would match that, whether they have other circumstances that would affect them as well.

MR. AIKEN:  So I guess my question is why did you present the material in tab 9?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Because the PEG model, the forecasting model was introduced as a filing requirement mid-way through the proceeding, we found issues with that model that we thought may be helpful to today's discussion.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So back to the model itself, and I am going back to the model inputs tab -- and this is a general question, but why does the OM&A that you have included in the model -- I am trying to read my writing here.  Why is the OM&A included in the model about $400,000 lower than what's included in your revenue requirement?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  My understanding of the model is that certain costs are excluded, certain OM&A costs are excluded from the model.  It doesn't include every OM&A account.

MR. AIKEN:  So then it might depend on your individual accounting practices of where you put costs.  Is that correct?

For example, I see a difference of about $260,000 under billing and collecting.  So there's $262,000 that does not show up in the PEG model, but shows up in your revenue requirement.  And depending on what account you put that in for your accounting purposes, it could or could not be in the PEG model.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's my understanding, that certain costs, such as costs related to bad debts for example, that would likely fall into that category are not included in the model.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I think those are all my questions.  Let me just check my notes here.

I guess one final question, and this goes back to account 4375.  And that shows the revenue that is associated with your depreciation, return on capital and taxes associated with the services you provide to your affiliates.  But there is no OM&A revenue recovery shown there, because it's an offset to the OM&A.

So if you treated 4375 like you treat 4330, where the OM&A costs are shown as a deduction to other revenue rather than deduction to OM&A, would it not be true that your OM&A would be higher?  You'd have higher OM&A offset by higher revenue in account 4375?

MR. KING:  Can you repeat that question?  That was not straightforward.

MR. AIKEN:  I can try.  Right now, my understanding is if you have $100,000 in OM&A associated with the services you provide your affiliates, that shows up in one of your OM&A accounts and is offset by $100,000 recovery from your affiliates in that same OM&A.

And my question is:  If you put that 100,000 in OM&A, but you put the recovery of OM&A in account 4375 which is other revenues, the impact would be the same.  You are still recovering your costs, but your OM&A now looks $100,000 higher.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  That's correct, Mr. Aiken.  It would be --


MR. AIKEN:  Well, for the purposes of benchmarking and for accounting.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  It would be a reclassification, yes.  It would be a debit out of -- yes, it would be a debit back into the in general.

MR. AIKEN:  And that's what you do with the revenue you recover from non-affiliates in 4325 and 4330, correct?

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Correct, yes.  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you Mr. Aiken.  Mr. Janigan -- yes, Mr. Janigan are you next?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, I am next.  Thank you, Madam Chair. Just following up on some questions directed to you by Mr. Aiken, did you seek -- when you found out about this problem about additional revenue and formulated your adjusted model, did you seek any recalibration of the measurements associated with CNPI?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Can you clarify what you mean by that?

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, did you contact PEG for example and bring them to the attention of the problems with this model, or the Board itself?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  No, we did not.

MR. JANIGAN:  The PEG model and the results are supposed to enable an objective comparison between utilities.  Wouldn't it be prudent for CNPI to bring this to the attention of the model makers and the model users?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I mean, I think we have done that today, you know, in the context of -- I said earlier that we are not submitting that CNPI should be moved into the third cohort, but this is an issue that's very recently come to our attention with the model.

Whether we at some point in the near future decided to bring that forward as evidence, I mean we have to look at the cost and the effort to do that versus the potential impact of moving from one cohort to the next, if that would even happen.

Also I understand from the PEG documentation that the Board has scheduled regular refreshes of the model and that might be also an appropriate opportunity to bring that forward.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, surely it would have been opportune for us to find out what their views would have been on the subject, and whether or not your particular situation is unique among utilities.  If it is not, then the adjusted model is basically to no effect; wouldn't you agree?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I think we presented the model for the purpose of showing that there is an issue with it.

MR. JANIGAN:  I understand that.  But we generally use these models in the rate proceedings, not -- you know, you don't change things in the rate proceeding to adjust the model.  You understand that.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes, I understand what you are getting at.

MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if you could turn up -- I have a compendium, and I wonder if I can have that marked as an exhibit, please? 

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Exhibit K1.4. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF VECC FOR CNPI PANEL 2


MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if you could turn up pages 12 and 13 of the compendium.  And these are responses to interrogatories from Energy Probe numbers 2 and 3.  And the data that is presented in these interrogatories appears to show a decline in productivity over the course of the rate period, do they not?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I would qualify that the WACC issue mentioned earlier also impacts the actual costs that were used to calculate the values in this table, so those would have to be updated as well for 2016 and 2017.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But directionally that's what they show, is it not?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Can you point me to --


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, the total costs per customer data as used in the results of the OEB benchmarking spreadsheet forecast model shows that it's going up from $715 per customer to $891 per customer.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Right.

MR. JANIGAN:  On the previous page it shows that the total cost per kilometre of line has gone up from 19,893 to 25,009 in 2017.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yeah.

MR. JANIGAN:  That appears to be, given the other parameters, the economic parameters in place, that it would be a decline in productivity over that period.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  So I will clarify that those -- as we alluded to earlier when we presented the updated benchmarking models -- and this is part of the reason we left the original results in as well as the highlighted results that show the adjustment -- the 2017 test-year actual costs with the update to WACC did drop substantially, so that 891 would reduce to about $831.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  And there would be a similar reduction in the 2017 cost per kilometre from $25,009 to $23,339.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, it's your belief that over this period that you have shown continuous improvement in your operations?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  What do you mean by "continuous improvement"?

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, the same way it's defined in the RRFE.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  So during this period I think we've highlighted cost drivers, we've highlighted productivity improvements that we have achieved.  To some extent those have offset each other.  We've implemented programs aimed at improving reliability.  We've taken steps to improve customer service in various ways.

MR. JANIGAN:  So is it your testimony the company is satisfied with the productivity improvements that were implemented over this period of time?

MR. KING:  I think I would say we continue to look for continuous improvement.  Are we ever satisfied?  I wouldn't say we are ever satisfied with that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if I could direct you to pages 14, 15, and 16 in my compendium.  And this is a conversation that you had with Mr. Shepherd at the technical conference, and I am trying to understand exactly what was communicated with respect to productivity improvements.  And on page 16, Mr. Shepherd indicates:

"So I have a follow-up on that as well..."

About, down at line 6:

"...I have the same thing.  It looks like it is zero productivity, right?  The net of the additional cost drivers and the productivity  benefits is zero, and that's what we have assumed for the purpose of presenting O&M costs 2018 forward, yes."

 Now, is it the case that there are productivity benefits but they are offset by the drivers or the fact that there is basically not productivity improvements up until 2018?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  So I think for 20 -- that conversation was in the context of why we used the 2 percent inflationary factor for 2018 forward rather than, for example, some assumption for inflation less some other assumption for a productivity offset.

And so in answering that question, you know, our recent experience has been that for every productivity improvement we have been able to find there has been cost drivers that have put pressures on costs in the opposite direction.

So without identifying anything specifically beyond 2018 that was a materially quantifiable productivity improvement, we decided to use a straight inflationary factor for the purpose in our DSP of forecasting O&M costs through the IRM period.

MR. JANIGAN:  So for -- in terms of your forecast there is simply the 2 percent and no productivity improvements assumed; is that what you are saying?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I am saying we used a 2 percent proxy for inflation for our factor in the DSP for the Appendix 2AB that requires an O&M forecast through the IRM period.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I wonder if you could just turn up page 19 of your -- or page 19 of the settlement agreements.  And on that it indicates that you have long-term debt in the amount of $50,357,710 at a rate of 6.14 percent.  And when does the term of that debt expire?

MR. KING:  August 2018.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I would assume that you will be seeking something considerably south of the 6.14 percent number.

MR. KING:  Let me just...

What number did you say?  6.14, okay, so you are looking at the initial -- okay.  Yes -- well, we will seek a number that's on the market number at that point in time, yes.  And that's a weighted average number, so be careful.  That's not the number that's -- the third-party debt.  That's up for maturity.  There's 50 million up for maturity in August 2018.  That's the weighted average based on the rate base, accommodation of the deemed -- the affiliated debt.

MR. JANIGAN:  And presumably, based on, let's say, the existing figures today, discounting the effects of a Trump presidency, that you will be reaping considerable savings when that rate is negotiated.

MR. KING:  You know, somewhat speculating.  Market rates are -- you know, that debt is 7.092 percent, and so market rates today are lower than that.  What they will be in 12 months' time I am not quite sure.

MR. JANIGAN:  And to what extent has that fact affected your estimates of O&M productivity and revenue growth?

MR. KING:  It has not impacted that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  In other words, you are not using this to backstop, you know, increase in costs.

MR. KING:  No, this is cost to debt, this is separate from OM&A and productivity growth.

MR. JANIGAN:  I understand that.

I wonder if you could turn up page 22 of my compendium.  And this involves the adjustment -- or the change in the recording of vehicle depreciation.  I must admit, I don't understand, given this chart, why the adjustment should not be 197,000 rather than the 351,000 that was recorded in your adjusted summary.  You see that?

MR. VANDER VLOET:  So just to clarify, are you referencing that it should -- your question is specifically in the cost driver table, Appendix 2JB --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, your new --


MR. VANDER VLOET:  -- whether it should be --


MR. JANIGAN:  -- cost driver table, the 351,000 included in that.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Sure.  The purpose of the new table was to account for the fact that in 2013, we credited OM&A by the amount of $351,000 when it should have been classified as a contra to depreciation expenses.

The $154,000 debit there relates to the OM&A portioned amount that's included within the burden rates that follows the labour allocation.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  So the 197 there -- sorry, yes.  So the net amount of the 197,000 would therefore not be explicitly identified in appendix 2JB.

MR. JANIGAN:  But doesn't that last figure indicate that that should be the amount that is included in your additional costs for that year?

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Yes and no.  At the time of the 2013 rate application proceeding, within the OM&A portion that was approved by the Board, we had accounted for an allocation to OM&A relating to vehicle depreciation.  So if we are looking at, for purposes of the table that Greg, Mr. Beharriell had presented earlier, to get us to the apples-to-apples comparison, we had to adjust the 351,000 and not offset it by the 154,000, because the 154,000 was in effect already included in the OM&A presented and approved in the previous rate application for '13.  So, therefore, that's already factored into the comparability.

MR. JANIGAN:  What then is the meaning of that last figure, total OM&A impact of vehicle depreciation?  I can understand what you have just told me, but I don't understand the last figure of total impact.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  So if we go back to the actual question in 4 Energy Probe 15, the request in part (b) is to please provide the total vehicle depreciation included in each of 2013 through 2017 and included in OM&A costs.

So the purposes of that bottom line there in the table provided -- for example in 2013, the negative 197,000 -- that is in effect the amount that's included in OM&A reported within this proceeding.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I think I understand.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Whereas in comparison, 2014, it's the 178.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  I wonder if you could turn up page 27 of my compendium, and here it shows that you provided a breakdown of the 95,500 for the Emerald Ash program.  And the table shows that you are only spending 27,500 actually removing trees; is that correct?

MR. HAN:  That is correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And at appendix M, you provided the assessment, and that's at page 32 my compendium, the EAB assessment.  Is this the only study you did in support of the 95,500 per year EAB budget?

MR. HAN:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  The reason I ask is most of the report is a description of the bug and only the last two pages seem to provide anything specific.  And that is on page 38 of my compendium, it shows that there appears to be 6590 ash trees and the portion that they might have to address is 40 percent of those trees, or 2636 trees.  Is that correct?

MR. HAN:  The 6590 is correct.  The other 40 percent I have to just clarify.  It is the trees that are impacting or not impacting, so that is the one I have to confirm.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. HAN:  So those are the trees that may or may not have impact.

MR. JANIGAN:  Oh, okay.

MR. HAN:  So the way to say it is 60 percent.

MR. JANIGAN:  60 percent; I've read that wrong.

MR. HAN:  Well, this is the way they have worded it.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, going back to page 27 in 4-Staff-59, you state that the cost of tree removal is between $800 and $1,600, or an average of $1,200 per tree.

If you were to spend, let's say, approximately 100,000 per year over a five-year period, you should be able to remove about 416 trees.  But under your plan, you would remove just 23 year trees a year, or about 100 trees over the entire program.  Am I correct in that arithmetic?

MR. HAN:  Well, the trees we propose to remove are the trees in our right of way; i.e., we own the tree.  We do not remove the trees that other people own.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So that's a limited number of trees?

MR. HAN:  Right.

MR. JANIGAN:  All right.  And as I understand it, is Pineridge the removal service that you use for the trees?

MR. HAN:  Pineridge currently is our vegetation management contractor, and they are considered a contractor familiar with the trees and are expert in certain aspect of the trees.  And the report, you know, none of us are tree experts, so we want some input from the tree expert to say what is the issue and what is the potential cost to us.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Is the tree trimming amount that you allocate to Pineridge through the competitive contract, is that -- does any of that money go into trim ash trees?

MR. HAN:  I would imagine yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  So they don't simply ignore a tree that is an ash tree and subject to another part of their contract or another contract.

MR. HAN:  No, the program designed was by region and by streets, and they go there.  They do not really look at what tree it is.  They just cut it to the standards.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, given the length of time that tree trimming has been going on, do we see any trend in reduction in outages due to tree contacts over the last five to six years?

MR. HAN:  I would say yes.  It's very difficult to get that particular piece of information, but if you look at the -- from operating people, their experience, their tree-affected outages are reduced.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, there was a -- I believe a figure or a chart that was put together dealing with number of outages due to tree contacts, and I don't think it showed that over that period of time.  Am I mistaken on that?  If you look at page 29 of my compendium...


MR. HAN:  Generally speaking, the outages are highly statistical in nature.  It is very difficult to use one particular year or the other, and it is a very difficult -- even a five-year history is not going to show anything because you could have a bad storm in a bad location that happened to be that year is particularly high.  Remember the tree-trimming standards in the city were not completely removing the trees from the right of way.  We only cut to 7  to 10 feet away from the tree.

MR. JANIGAN:  But you have ten years of data here. Presumably, it should show some trending to a reduction of outages by tree contact.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I would say tree trimming is an  going maintenance activity that is necessary to maintain appropriate clearance to the trees.  It's -- I mean, if you stop doing it reliability would get worse, but we are not doing our annual tree-trimming to improve reliability, we are doing it to maintain reliability and for safety.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, presumably the same trees aren't being trimmed annually.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Every three years they are.

MR. JANIGAN:  Every three years.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Presumably there would be some -- might be some effect on the outages associated with tree contact.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  To the extent that we have trimmed those same trees every three years for a long time, I mean, the tree-trimming program is what it is to prevent trees from encroaching on our power lines.  It's about maintaining reliability and safety, not improving reliability.

MR. JANIGAN:  Can you turn up page 40 of my compendium, please.  And this deals with customer disconnections, and CNPI is proposing to double the amount of time it puts into customer connections, and I believe I read in one part of the evidence -- and I have been looking for the reference, but that this was mainly due to the problems associated with the removal of the Ontario Energy Credit; am I correct on that?  Is that what you attributed it to?

MR. KING:  Certainly, I am not speaking from the evidence here, I am speaking, you know, generally.  Our expectation was with the removal of the OCEB and increasing rates that we would have more disconnects.

MR. JANIGAN:  Is it your experience that customer disconnections arise primarily from ability to pay?

MR. KING:  That's one of the factors, for sure.

MR. JANIGAN:  Wouldn't that and problems associated with that have been somewhat alleviated by the programs that are associated with the OESP program?

MR. KING:  Certainly they would be.  They would help some low-income customers.

MR. JANIGAN:  I was just thinking, it should balance off, in my view, the difference between the Ontario Energy Credit and -- for customers that have that kind of problem.

MR. KING:  As we saw in our Port Colborne community meeting, people crying with $400 bills, there are certainly people out there that are hurting because of electricity bills today.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And are these people people that might be reached by that program, the Ontario --


MR. KING:  Certainly, yeah, we encourage people -- and that's our staff are trained -- encourage people to engage in the OESP program.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I guess in light of that I am sort of wondering why there has been such an aggressive doubling of the disconnection figure.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I think we already have an undertaking from Mr. Aiken to reconciling the doubling of hours with the relatively stable or even slight decrease in the number of disconnections, so --


MR. JANIGAN:  The answer might come there then.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, that's fine.

Now, I wonder if I could have you turn up page 44 of my compendium, and this relates to your pole replacement program.  And as I understand it, there is -- an additional 75,000 has been budgeted to accommodate immediate pole repairs, including grade-one repairs to pole guy guards, down guards, anchors, cross arms, et cetera, et cetera.

My question is, given that you are embarking on a comprehensive pole-testing program, why would you not delay the acceleration of pole replacements until you have the results of that program?

MR. HAN:  We are -- that's why we started in 2016 our pole-testing program.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. HAN:  Our plan is to start our pole replacement program based on our 2016 testing program, and that will help us to address this issue, so that's why we increased the pole-testing.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Also recall that we discussed this issue at length in the technical conference, that the early years of our DSP have a much higher percentage of poles related to the voltage conversion programs, whereas the later years of the DSP show a decrease in the poles associated with that program and a corresponding increase with the poles driven by the pole-testing results.

MR. JANIGAN:  What evidence do you have concerning the reliability of the poles that you are facing an imminent problem that you need to drastically modify your prior maintenance and replacement program?  What was the evidence?

MR. HAN:  We do have broken poles, rotten poles, and reported by our own staff, reported by customers, and occasionally we see the poles on the ground.  So to answer your question, without the poles laying on the ground we don't know.  That's why we do this testing, because historically what we do is based on inspection, but those inspections are done, visual inspections, sound and board, there is some experience in there, but it's not very scientific, so this is the new -- the pole-testing program was -- presumably there is a lot more science than just kicking the ball at the bottom of the pole.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But what evidence has been brought to you that your current -- or that your previous pole replacement program is not sufficient to meet these needs?

MR. HAN:  In the past, we did a statistical analysis.  This is purely based on statistical.  We are looking at our depreciation rates and looking at our number of poles we are replacing and comparing with those depreciation rates were far apart, were less than half of what we are supposed to replace.

As a result, the poles are getting older and older, and what will happen is the pole -- everybody knows they will not last forever, they will fail, it's just now or a little bit later.  So we can wait until all the poles on the ground -- sorry, excuse me, I am an engineer.  I just speak from my perspective, not very diplomatic, probably.

We can wait until all the poles on the ground and we start to replace, or we can start develop a program to address the issue.  And if we started develop a program to address the issue, now is the time to do a real test.

Think about it.  The pole in Ontario is about 100 years old, the oldest one.  We only have our power system over 100 years, that's how long we have, and the pole on average in our design is 50 years old -- 50 years.

So if we do not start it now -- we are only at the two cycles.  This is all our history we got.  If we do not start a cycle somewhere in this cycle, start the testing or replacement in this cycle, we could end up with a lot of poles, we have to replace them immediately.

Now, to emphasize on that, we do have some poles 70 years old, and we took them out, and they are -- or they are falling, falling on the ground, we have to replace them in a storm or somewhat, we are remembering one of the storm I have to replace 20, 30 poles.  It is not happening any more.  Why?  Because the poles in the system, they are not failing on a regular day today, they failing in a storm, and then they fail in a storm, they are failing a large number of poles, and that's going to increase your cost and reduce reliability.

Now, when we say we go out there to replace a pole, does that pole really fail tomorrow?  No.  Are we waiting for the pole ready to fail before we replace it?  That's not prudent.  So that's my general answer to you.  I do not have a three-, five-year, five life cycles to prove it
is -- what's going to happen, because we only have electricity over 100 years.  That's only barely two cycles.

MR. JANIGAN:  But would you say that between 2011 and 2015 in this diagram you effectively were adopting a strategy of waiting for a pole to fail?

MR. HAN:  From 2000 what?

MR. JANIGAN:  '11 to 2015.  Was it the company's strategy just waiting for a pole to fail that -- and now you have ramped up --


MR. HAN:  No.

MR. JANIGAN:  -- now you have had a ramp-up that's more proactive?  Is that what you are saying?

MR. HAN:  No, there are two things that I want to emphasize.  The first one is that in 2012 we did a sampling test.  We didn't do the whole system test.  We did what we call 10 percenter, so we statistically select 10 percent of our system to do the pole test and to find out what is the pole ready to fail based on the professional opinion.

In that study we found out about 2 percent per year, they identify about 10 percent over five years we need to replace.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. HAN:  So in the last rate application we increased our budget by about 600,000, I remember.  I am the guy -- you guys approved -- the Board approved $600,000 per year increase on pole replacement, so we already ramp up once.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, did that meet that figure of 2 percent or 10 percent over --


MR. HAN:  No.

MR. JANIGAN:  It didn't, okay.

MR. HAN:  No, but that's the -- I was told you have got to look at raise as well.  So I said fine; any increase, I will take it.

So now the second factor is in this round of rate application, the OEB requested me to do a DSP, to do asset management plan.  Now, this is for real now.  So I said, okay, if you ask me to do all these studies, why?  If I identify issues, should I address them?  You know, one of the discussion we had before was we don't want to do pole test.  Why?  Because if I do pole test and a third of my poles are failing, what am I going to do?

I can say I don't know, I don't know.  Now if I know I don't know -- if I know what I don't know before, I am not replacing that because I don't have money.  Then what's going to happen?  Somebody got killed; why didn't you test that as a bad pole?  You didn't replace that and as a result, the fail kills somebody.  Who is liable?  Sorry, I am getting excited here.

MR. JANIGAN:  That's okay.

MR. HAN:  But that's who I am.

MR. JANIGAN:  It's an exciting topic.  No, that's okay.  I think I understand where you are coming from, and maybe I will just move on to another topic here.

On pages 46 and 47 of my compendium, this deals with the consolidation of the Fort Erie and Port Colborne operating centres.  And I am trying to understand, based on the language that was used here, were there or weren't there savings associated with the closing of the Port Colborne centre?

You seem to say in one part there was $55,000 in savings, and then effectively there wasn't any annual savings.  I don't know if I have read this right, but can you clarify this?

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Sure.  4 Staff 62 was intended to
-- maybe I will come at it from a different angle.  The long and the short of it is there was a $55,000 annual operating savings that's been realized as a result of the closure of the Port Colborne centre.

What happened from an accounting perspective is that  setting the $55,000 aside, which is identified in appendix 2JB, from an accounting perspective, previously what was done when Port Colborne was accounted for separate and distinctly from Fort Erie, we had some allocations of costs that went over to the Port Colborne service area.

And so with the consolidation into one Niagara centre and the closure of the Port Colborne centre, it just resulted in a different accounting for the Niagara regional costs as opposed to the sum of Fort and Port.  So the purpose of that the table at the bottom of page 47 there, page 2 of 2, is just to show that the effect of all of those journal entries that were done to allocate some costs over to Port Colborne, the sum total of that is zero.

So there was $55,000 in savings directly related to the operations of that Port Colborne service centre that was closed.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  But then there was some other accounting entries done on a month-to-month basis that ceased to be done once we consolidated into one Niagara operating centre.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So overall, there was a reduction of expenses.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Of 55,000.

MR. JANIGAN:  55,000 by the consolidation.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And that's an going reduction.

MR. VANDER VLOET:  That persists into the future, correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  All right.  I wonder if you could turn up page 51 and 52 of my compendium.  There seem to be two pieces of evidence with respect to IT costs.

In your explanation of the variances between 2013 Board-approved and 2017, you show on page 51 a 153,688 decrease in costs.  And on the following page, when weed asked you in VECC 30 to show us 2013 to 2017 IT costs, it would seem they are increasing by about 160,000.

Can you reconcile those two figures?

MR. KING:  Yes.  So on page 51, there are operating expense decreases.  On page 52, that's the shared service charges.  So they would be the costs of capital and deprecation.  So as the capital, our IT capital increases, the cost of capital and depreciation both increases.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you, panel, those are all my questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  I think we might take a short break now and come back and I think -- is it Board Staff going next?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, we are next and I only have a couple questions, so I expect to be only about 15 minutes.

MS. SPOEL:  Great.  Well, we will come back at five past three.
--- Recess taken at 2:48 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:08 p.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Please be seated.  Okay, Ms. Djurdjevic.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic:


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  I only have a couple questions, and the first one, to provide some context, if you could look at page 19 of the technical conference transcript, starting near the bottom and going over on to the next page.  Let me just get my copy.

And the question from Mr. Davies of OEB Staff was referencing interrogatory response to 1 Staff 16, which is the benchmarking spreadsheet forecast model.  And going over to the next page, the IR response, which is in quotes -- what page are we -- looking at the screen.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You gave me page 19 as a reference, but I think it was earlier than that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  19, and then over to 20.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You mentioned Mr. Davies.  He's not on that page.  I think he was earlier.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I'm looking at --


MS. SPOEL:  Start at the begin -- bottom of page 20.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, it's the bottom of page 20 in the print version, is it?  Okay.  I have a question -- okay.  Going over to the next page.  21.  So the -- we can stop there.  The quote at the very top of page 21 is referring to the interrogatory response.  And the allegation, I guess, if I can pose it, misalignment -- there is reference to a misalignment between CNPI's cost drivers and a cost-of-service application and the model coefficients developed for benchmarking in the context of incentive rate-making, which results in increasing differential between actual and predicted costs.

Then further on Mr. Beharriell goes on to discuss changes to the regulatory environment, so that's again page 21, going -- starting about line 13.  He states that since 2012 there have been changes to the regulatory environment, the RFE, the requirement to file distribution plans, and so forth.

And then in the next paragraph he states that these cost drivers have changed since 2012, and going over to page 22, line 7, he states that:

"I am suggesting that we have cost drivers that are perhaps not reflected in this model, so perhaps more frequent updates of the data set used in the model would be more appropriate."

So my -- the question -- the reference to the various changes that have occurred since 2012, the question is whether those are equally applicable to all LDCs, in which case there would be a constant when you are comparing LDCs and kind of benchmarking studies, or are these -- have those changes had a different impact on CNPI, such as need to be considered differently?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Sorry, is the question whether we believe those cost drivers would be applicable to other LDCs as well?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, so I am first of all talking about the changes, the regulatory -- you mentioned regulatory changes, the RRFE, filing distribution plans, change in legislation, so all of those, I would suggest to you, are equally applicable to all LDCs.  Would you agree with that, or is there --


MR. BEHARRIELL:  I would agree with that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, so it's not that these changes have had some particular impact on CNPI, such that the model does not apply to it for some reason.  You're not suggesting that, are you?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I would suggest that because the data set ends at 2012 and has not been updated since, that even if they do apply to all LDCs they haven't affected the model coefficients in any ways because it hasn't been updated to account for those.

So the PEG model coefficients are what they are every year based on the 2002 to 2012 data set.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  And if I am understanding you correctly, the suggestion is that there are certain cost drivers that are not being picked up in the models or the PEG model.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Now, are you able to tell us what those are and if they are generic or they are specific to CNPI?  You may want to do this by way of undertaking, or if you can answer here.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Well, I think we have discussed some generically in the technical conference.  You just mentioned a bunch of them, the DSP, the RRFE, things like that.  And then I can take you to the cost driver table in tab 5 of our hearing materials, which details cost drivers specific to CNPI.  Some of them are specific to CNPI, some of them are not.  For example, the one-call initiative would be, you know, equally applicable to, you know, all LDCs in the province, maybe to different degrees, depending on the number of utilities doing underground work in their service area.

I am not saying they would be exactly equally applicable to all LDCs.  Some of them, we have added a pole-testing program.  I can't speak to whether other LDCs have or have not or when they have since that 2002 to 2012 time period.  We have a cost driver for missed metering that again would impact all LDCs, so when you look at our results using the PEG model and you infer any trending from those results, there are cost drivers that are affecting the costs that go into the model that aren't picked up on the inputs and the coefficients.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So my second question then is about the increase in your OM&A from 2015 to '17.  So if you could first turn up the settlement proposal, which is at tab K1.1, tab 1, page 14.  And is that a table -- table 4.

Okay, so, yes, table 4, 2017 test year, OM&A expenditures, indicates your total expenditure for 2017, 10 million -- 10.574 million.  Okay.  Then we look at your 2015 expenses.  That is in Exhibit 4, tab 1, schedule 1, and you can look it up or just -- which is the summary of operating expenses to the extent that we can read it.  2015 actual OM&A is 9.518 million.  9.518 million.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So would you agree the difference between those two numbers subject to check represents an increase over two years of more than 11 percent?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Subject to check, yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So my next question is about how this relates to your assumed inflation factor, which you indicate Exhibit 1, tab 2, schedule 5, page 4.  And that is -- refers to inflation rates used for OM&A.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  In any event, it states an inflation factor of 2 percent was considered and applied to 2016 bridge and 2017 test year.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So again, that would be a 4 percent inflation assumption over a two-year period, and yet, as we just reviewed, the OM&A increase over two years is 11 percent, so almost three times the amount of your own inflation assumption of 4 percent over two years.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So the question, I guess, is why does CNPI believe it's reasonable to be awarded an overall OM&A increase that is more than -- three times more than its own inflation assumption?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  So I think we presented a detailed list of cost drivers, and I will take you to tab 4 of our hearing materials, where it provides a summary of those cost drivers, and in tab 5 we relate those cost drivers -- and I will mention, they are not just cost drivers.  There is also cost savings in there.  For every one of those cost drivers and cost savings we describe how it relates to the RRFE, how it provides value to customers, and/or whether there is any legislative requirements that are affecting those cost drivers.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Those are all my questions, thank you, panel.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Shepherd, I think you are --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I understand I am last.

MS. SPOEL:  You are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can the Board advise whether there is some flexibility with 4:30?  I had two hours planned, but if there is some flexibility on 4:30 and I giddy-up, I might finish today.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, it's fine for us to stay a bit late. Does anybody else have any issues with staying a bit later?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will still target 4:30.  But if it's 4:40, better to finish today.

MS. SPOEL:  Correct.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Witnesses, I think you know who I am.  I want to start, and this is probably for you, Mr. King.  We agree, I think, and tell me whether this is wrong, that CNPI is a relatively high cost and a relatively high rate distributor; is that right?

MR. KING:  Yes, I don't disagree with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And in fact your costs from a benchmarking point of view are -- and I am looking now at page 3 of our materials.  Pages 2 and 3 are a list of the benchmarking results for everybody from 2010 to 2015 and your costs are consistently way down near the bottom.  You are 61 out of 72, right?  It's on page 3 of our materials.

MR. KING:  Yes, according to your calculations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, do you disagree with these? Because in the technical conference, you said you'd reviewed them and they were okay.

MR. KING:  Did I say I reviewed them?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I think it was Mr. Beharriell, but I meant the collective you.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  So I mean, yes, I have reviewed your numbers and here I did pick up when I looked at them again last night.  The 2013 value for CNPI is incorrect, but the three-year average appears to be fine.  So the way you have sorted them also appears to be fine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  And it's true, isn't it, that every single one of the utilities that is in your neighbourhood, except for Woodstock, fares better on the benchmarking than you did, right?

MR. KING:  I haven't done the comparison, but I am sure you have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you can just take a look at Canadian Niagara Power and look below it and see whether you recognize anybody here, any of your neighbours except for Woodstock in that list.  And there aren't any, right?

MR. KING:  Um-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Except for Hydro One; Hydro One doesn't count.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Sorry, why does Hydro One not count?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because they are a terrible utility, sorry.  They just -- they don't do anything efficiently, so nobody compares themselves to Hydro One.  Do you compare yourself to Hydro One?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I mean in terms of, you know, Hydro One has areas with comparable density to ours, neighbouring on some of our areas.  Do we meet with them on a regular basis to compare directly?  No, but do we look at what they are doing from program perspectives, from asset management perspectives, and try to learn anything from that.  Yes, we occasionally do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Their cost levels are not your target, are they?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  They are not, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  On pages 4 and 5 of our materials, we have a comparison of typical bills for residential GS under 50, GS over 50 customers.  And you will agree that except for Toronto Hydro and Algoma -- and, of course, Hydro One -- Canadian Niagara actually has the worst rates in the province; isn't that right?

MR. KING:  According to your calculations here, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, are they wrong?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I haven't checked every number on your spreadsheet.  I do note that Atikokan Hydro is not included and they do have, in some cases, worse rates than CNPI.  But subject to those two that you mentioned and Atikokan, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is before your requested rate increase of 9.41 percent, right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is 9.41 percent, right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Can you refer me to where you are getting that number?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am getting it from the revenue requirement work form that you just filed with your hearing materials.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Okay.  So subject to check, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, your residential customers pay about 25 percent -- more than 25 percent above the industry average, true?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Above the average of all utilities without, you know, considering any weighting based on number of customers or anything like that, based on a simple average of all utilities, subject to checking those numbers.

But I want to clarify that I don't agree that there is any premise that those rates should be equal as a starting point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so let's -- we talked about this at the technical conference.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes, we did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So tell us about that.  Why is it not appropriate to look at your rates and say, oh, wait a second, you are higher than everybody else?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I think there is different things that drive rates.  When you look at simply the input to the PEG model, they clearly suggest that differences in customer count, differences in demand, differences in delivery volume and, when some of those variables get multiplied together, indirectly differences in density are all things that would impact rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Does Canadian Niagara Power have a density issue?  Because I didn't think that you had a density issue relative to the industry averages.  Is that right?


MR. BEHARRIELL:  I never suggested we did have a density issue --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you just mentioned it twice; that's why I asked.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I only recall mentioning it once.  maybe I did mention it twice.  But I am saying there is different things that impact rate.  So even if our density was marginally less than neighbouring utilities, that would have -- in the PEG model, for example -- an impact on our predicted costs, which should suggest that rates should not be equal as a starting point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your service territory abuts Welland Hydro.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  In some places, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it abuts Niagara Peninsula Power?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. KING:  We are also very similar, Jay, to Haldimand County and Norfolk, which are just above.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Interesting you say that, because they are the two that were just bought by Hydro One.  But, yes you are right.  Although you're lower on residential, you remain the very worst place in the province to have a school because GS over 50 is -- you are 84 percent above the average and nobody is close to that, right?  Except Toronto, of course, again.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Well, and Hydro One's rates aren't in here either.

MR. SHEPHERD:  True.  You are aware that the Board actually excluded Hydro One and Toronto Hydro from their benchmarking comparisons because they were such big outliers; isn't that right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Well, I think because of their size and overall cost relative to the industry, they would skew the results.  But they haven't suggested that they are outliers to the point that benchmarking shouldn't apply to them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, all right.

MR. TAYLOR:  May I ask a question?  What's the source of this table?  Where does this come from?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It comes from the Board's website.  It comes from the rate orders for all these utilities.  That's why we sent it to you in advance, so that you can check it.

MR. TAYLOR:  No, I understand that.  But is this table on the Board's website, or was this table produced by you?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was produced by us.  We produce it in every proceeding, because this is a rate proceeding and we are concerned about rates.

MR. TAYLOR:  I understand that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So we asked you about these various comparisons, the benchmark comparisons that are benchmarking and the comparisons related to rates, and what -- customers are concerned about this, right?  They are concerned about your rates?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes, they are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact didn't one of the councillors in Port Colborne actually make a presentation that ended with, by the way, I am not even sure that you are able to get your rates down.  After having had good rates before and bad rates now, I am not sure you are even capable of getting your rates down any more.  Isn't that what she said?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I believe she said that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, in the community meetings they were upset, right?  The customers were upset?

MR. KING:  No, hold on, back up here.  So the councillor you are talking regarding, Marina Butler, who is a councillor in Fort Erie --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KING:  -- and her issue was, yes, our rates were higher than some of the rates in the area.  Were customers upset with our rates?  You are generalizing.  The customers were upset with the rates generally across the province. They weren't necessarily upset with our rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So Councillor Butler's --


MR. KING:  Her comments -- you are correct in saying what she said.  She said our rates were higher than others in the area.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And she wasn't the only one of those 110 people that complained about your rates, right?

MR. KING:  The people in the audience were upset with rates in general, the $400 bill; they weren't necessarily talking about our rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So nobody talked about distribution rates?

MR. KING:  It wasn't hardly talked about at all, besides Jie spoke about it in his presentation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you -- have we got your presentation at that proceeding on the record somewhere?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  It's on the record, yes.  It was filed as an attachment to the Board Staff report.

MR. KING:  And we did talk about the rate increase in that presentation, the dollar-amount rate increase.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you tell those 110 customers in Port Colborne -- by the way, it's amazing you got that many out.  I am so surprised, and then you had another 100 in Gananoque, right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. KING:  Well, it is fortunate that it happened the day after Kathleen Wynne made some announcements about -- she apologized, and the 8 percent decrease because of HST, so it was hot topic in the province the day before, for sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a hot topic today too, isn't it?

MR. KING:  Absolutely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you got a lot of customers out, and when you presented to them did you tell them, by the way, we have the highest rates in the province except for Toronto Hydro and Hydro One?  Oh, and our affiliate, Algoma Power -- and that we are one of the worst performers on costs?  Did you tell them that?

MR. KING:  We did not.  We talked about rate application and the increase we are asking for.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Why didn't you tell them that you compare badly?  Don't they have a right to know?

MR. KING:  That wasn't what we were asked to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And -- sorry, I had another question on something here -- just give me one second -- related to that.  I think I can skip that.

So we asked you about these results about the comparative benchmarking and about the comparative rates, and if you take a look at pages 6 through -- I guess 6 through 13, but I will take them in bits and pieces -- 6, 7, and 8 of our materials, we asked you about the PEG model, and we basically -- how you feel about your poor results, and your response appears to be that you don't think the model is really useful for you; is that right?  It doesn't tell you anything.

MR. KING:  I don't know, I wouldn't say -- I am not sure of my exact words here.  Can you give me a
reference --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example, on page 7 Mr. Beharriell says:

"I am not saying the model is right or wrong, I am saying it provides a predicted cost and it calculates an actual cost, which is isn't, you know -- doesn't tie in any way to our revenue requirement."

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Shepherd, can I -- I am going to interrupt you for a second.  I am going -- I am just looking back at this table you have on page 4 and 5 of your compendium, which I understand you put together.  I just want to clarify -- I know you are not a witness, but since you prepared it, you are the person to whom I am going to address these questions.

When you do your percentages as percent of average, you have got a percent for 800 kilowatt-hours for residential, a percent of average for GS less than 50 at 2,000, and a percent of average for 250 kilowatts for GS greater than 50, and then overall ranking as a percentage.

I take it the overall ranking is the arithmetic mean of the other three percentages?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's correct.

MS. SPOEL:  And it's not weighted by the number of customers in each customer class?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I tried to do that.  It's very hard.

MS. SPOEL:  Oh, I didn't suggest it was easy, I just wanted to make sure that I understand what that final overall ranking number means, and it's an arithmetic average of three percentages, which are themselves averages of rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's correct, Madam Chair.  And in fact, for some of the utilities on this list, that actually matters quite a bit.  In this --


MS. SPOEL:  Oh, I know, and that's why I'm asking you the question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In this case Canadian Niagara fares poorly on all three categories, so it sort of -- it doesn't matter as much.

MS. SPOEL:  Well --


MR. SHEPHERD:  They compare badly on all categories.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.  Just, if you are going to present sort of statistics like this to witnesses, it might be helpful to explain how you have derived numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I provided them with the full spreadsheet, including all the calculations --


MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  You didn't explain to us how these were derived.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. SPOEL:  And since we are the ones who are going to have to make a decision on this case and people might rely on this table, it would be useful to me as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was provided to the Board as well.  The full spreadsheet was provided to the Board as well.  The calculations are pages and pages --


MS. SPOEL:  I understand that, Mr. Shepherd.  When we are here at the panel at a hearing I have not gone through the spreadsheet, and I was only provided with the compendium today, so I have not seen the calculations.  So when you are presenting something it would be useful if you explained the derivation of the numbers.

MR. TAYLOR:  That goes to my concern as well, Madam Chair, because we can't possibly be expected to verify these numbers --


MS. SPOEL:  Well, and --


MR. TAYLOR:  -- having received them two days ago --


MS. SPOEL:  -- to the extent Mr. Shepherd makes use of any of them in his argument, of course, you can deal with them in your own argument as well and suggest what weight they be given or not or how they be used.  I just want to make it clear on the record as to what exactly they are.

Anyway, sorry, I'm sorry I interrupted you, Mr. Shepherd, and you were on to a different topic, but I just wanted to get that out of the way.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so what it appears that your view is, is that the model doesn't capture all cost drivers; right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I wondered about that, because the model starts with past data on costs in Ontario; right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And doesn't that include a whole lot of unique cost drivers for all those particular years?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  It would, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you have some information that tells us that the cost drivers today are different than they were then?  Quantitatively different?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I am suggesting we presented evidence in terms of cost drivers in terms of this other revenue issue that suggests that, well, the model provides a useful tool for IRM benchmarking purposes, and it wouldn't be worth our while for that purpose to invest significant time and effort into resolving every one of those minute details, you know, to possibly be placed in a different cohort.

As soon as you start talking about that model in a cost-of-service context and it produces a result that isn't directly linked to the revenue-requirement value that we are arguing here before the Board, I think there are some challenges with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are saying that the Board's filing requirement asking you to file this is wrong.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I never said that, Mr. Shepherd --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying it's not useful.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I never said that either.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then what are you saying?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I am saying the model produces results.  We've discussed those results.  I mean, there is still trending that comes out of the model.  You know, whether or not we have issues with that trending that we have discussed, that's fine.

So the Board can place whatever weight they wish on the model and on different aspects of the model.  We are highlighting our concerns to help the Board panel understand our concerns with the model.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you think that the model's general conclusion that your costs are well above what they should be is wrong?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I never said that either.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I am -- I didn't say you said that, I am asking whether you believe that.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I believe there is issues with the model.  I believe it would take far more time than we had in this proceeding to analyze all those issues in detail, so I neither agree nor disagree with whether the results of the model suggest anything about our overall costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Mr. King agreed that you are a high-cost utility.  Are you a high-cost utility?  Do you agree?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  You asked him the question in the context of are we a high-cost, high-rate utility, and in the context of that table where you presented our rates compared to everyone else he agreed that we are a high-rate utility in comparison to the rates themselves, which we don't believe should be equal as a starting point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you a high-cost utility?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I don't have anything to base an answer to that on.  Are we a high-rate utility?  Compared to others on a simple comparison, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you -- how do you assess internally whether you're getting to a cost and a rate level that is reasonable if you don't have any external comparators?  How do you compare yourself?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Well, I think that's quite a difficult exercise, actually.  We compare ourselves, you know, against prior historical results, we ensure that any, you know, drivers of costs are either well-justified or produce a benefit to customers, whether it's a cost savings in the future, whether it's productivity -- or reliability improvement, you know, and I recognize the Board has just released a handbook that provides further direction on the RRFE and expectations on, you know, benchmarking and those types of comparison, and I would suggest that if that's going to apply to cost-of-service proceedings, then the industry as a whole needs to get together and figure out a solution on how to do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I --


MR. BEHARRIELL:  We belong to many groups, you know, Utility Standards Forum, the EDA, that with the recent release of the handbook I would expect some definite development on that front.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I wasn't really asking the regulatory question, though, Mr. Beharriell.  I was asking the management question.  How do you manage your utility?  How do you target your own costs and your own rates, internally, for your customers, if you don't have any reference point?  What's your reference point?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  And as I have said, that's a difficult exercise.  We look at historical cost results; we compare ourselves against historical results.  We look at our asset management plan overall.  The system need as certain level of investment.  I couldn't tell you whether all of the other utilities on your rate table or your benchmarking table are under- or over-investing in their system compared to what a sustainable pace of investment would be.

Those are things that would affect rates, they would affect benchmarking results.  So it becomes quite a difficult exercise without having detailed information on every one of those issues from 70-plus utilities and trying to somehow make adjustments for variations in that -- data variations in the utilities themselves.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. King, you are the CFO, and you are a CPA, right?

MR. KING:  Um-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the private sector, you have to know what other people's prices are and what other people's cost structures are to complete.  Isn't that right?

MR. KING:  In a part of that world, for sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And isn't one of the things the Board is doing with benchmarking is trying to make you -- force you to act more like a market actor?  Isn't that right?

MR. KING:  I think that's the whole regulatory process at the Board.  But I think the this process right here, the whole -- we are a monopoly and our costs are being scrutinized through this process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I put to you the same question I put to Mr. Beharriell, which is what's your reference point for figuring out whether you have done enough on your costs, whether you have done enough to keep your rates down?

MR. KING:  That's always a challenge.  You know, what do you do, how often.  We go through budget process every year and we challenge our managers, and we run a full-service utility.  So we are a decent sized utility with an HR department, with a full health and safety program.  You know, we continue to invest in our system.

You know, we live in a tough part of the environment on Lake Erie, so we continue to invest in our system.  So it sometimes is a challenge to compare a utility that has no substations or is in a growth-type environment.

So we've had, as you saw in our energy sales, we have flat energy sales, negative energy sales.  So we appreciate that that's our environment that we live in.  We have a base set of costs, and we have energy sales that are declining, and we challenge our managers all the time.  We are looking for areas of improvement; we look for continuous improvements on a regular basis.

So a reference point?  We understand where the other utilities are, no difference than our town of Fort Erie will look at its mill rate compared to the mill rate in Niagara Falls.  The same type of comparison happening.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So year after year, the benchmarking report shows that you're well above your predicted costs, and I guess the question that I would -- that my clients want to know, and I am sure the Board wants to know, is what's your plan the make that go away, to change that fact so that you are no longer way up there, but you are back down towards where you should be.  What's your plan?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I am going the challenge your assumption or categorization of well above.  I mean, you know, the cohort 3 which the Board considers average has a range of minus 10 percent to plus 10 percent.  That's a 20 percent range.

There's years where, without any adjustments for other revenue, without any arguing with the model, yes, we have been slightly above that 10 percent.  We have been mostly in the range of 10 to 15 percent.

Do I consider that well above, when there is the range for the average cohort is 20 percent?  I don't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the answer is you don't have a plan.

MR. KING:  I think I said earlier that we are always looking.  It's not an easy answer to come out and say okay, I want to drop my rates by 20 percent tomorrow.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, it's just like Mr. Beharriell was saying, that other things weren't easy.  But that's why you are running the utility, because you are supposed to be able to do that.

MR. KING:  That is what we are trying to do.  We are trying to manage our costs to the best of our ability, while our priority is to serve our customers reliability and safety for our customers and employees as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't have a target.  This is where I am going with this.  You don't have a target to get your costs down to that predicted cost, do you?

MR. KING:  Do we set a target to what our rates should be at?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KING:  We don't set a rate target.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you don't set a cost target either, right?

MR. KING:  Yes, we do.  We have plans; we set cost targets.  You heard Mr. Han talk about, well, you wouldn't give me enough money to spend those poles.  Well, that's the reality of it; we are very conscious of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Those cost targets are we've got to stay where we are, right?  None of your cost targets are we are going to get down to zero, to equal to predicted costs, none of them; true?

MR. KING:  We look -- we don't drive on where we are in the benchmarking model.  We look at our costs and we look at how what areas we can improve our costs, reduce our costs, reduce our employee count, et cetera.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I mean, you can look at the PEG benchmarking model and say I had a target to get my costs either into the third cohort or to zero, and you could cut back capital for a few years and try to achieve that.

You know, in the long run, that doesn't benefit our ratepayers.  It doesn't benefit anyone, you know, to have a target in the sense that we are driving to that target at the expense of all else, at the expense of a prudent asset management plan, at the expense of overall distribution system plan that optimizes maintenance versus capital decisions in the best long-run interests of the ratepayer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What is it about your particular system -- let's just take Niagara Peninsula for now.  I mean, I understand Gananoque is a little different.  But what is it about your system that makes it more difficult for you to get to a reasonable level than, say, Niagara Peninsula, or Welland, or London for that matter?  Is there something about your system that makes it harder to do that?

MR. KING:  Do you want to --

MR. HAN:  From technically speaking, I just try to -- you know, this is a question I ask myself.  We have 20 substations, we have 1,000 kilometre lines, and for a 28,000 customer base versus we can send -- I can tell you maybe there are another utility, similar 30,000 customers and two substations, 500-kilometre lines.  Now, do you expect us to have the same rates?

Let me give you another example, arbitrarily, purely arbitrary.  You want your utility to have a 100-kilometre line with 2,000 customers, nothing else. I have another part of the town, a 100-kilometre line with only 1,000 customers.  Do you think we should have the same rates for our customers?

Now this is the example, it's very extreme cases; there is nothing in reality that would happen like that.  But the reality is something in between.

Now, if you are saying you have a 100-kilometre line and you 2,000 customers.  I have a 100-kilometre line, I have 2,000 customers.  Now we are comparable.  Now if your rates are lower than mine, you can kick my ass to say, "Hey, you didn't do enough to bring the rates down."


But if I am only half of your customers, and this is  just one example, do you expect to say, "Mr. Han, when you can bring your rates down to my level?"

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't have that particular problem, right?  As we said --


MR. HAN:  No, we do.  We do because I did an analysis -- this is not official; this is unofficial.  I did some analysis.  I am not going to put a -- and there is nothing records here, we did a cohort --


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Han, this is on the record.  This hearing is the record.

MR. HAN:  Okay, all right.

MS. SPOEL:  There is a transcript.  It will be on our website, so if you are going -- and you are under oath.  So if you are going to say -- or affirmed that you will tell the truth, you can't say things in the hearing room that are not part of the record.

MR. HAN:  Sorry.

MS. SPOEL:  If you want to give a specific example of why your utility faces higher cost situations for the number of customers, that's fine.  But it's not off the record.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I can add to Mr. Han's technical analysis.  I have a lot of experience in engineering and system planning from my previous role at Algoma Power, and one that strikes me about CNPI and Fort Erie in particular is the number of substations, the amount of 34.a KV line required to bring the transmission voltage to those substations and step it down again.  You know, there is historical decisions that go back generations into that system design where utilities in our neighbourhood, like NPEI, like Niagara on the Lake, who historically have had a 25 KV or 276 KV voltage coming from Hydro One and then going to step down stations to 4 KV have been able to eliminate those substations and the costs of, you know, continued capital investment, continued maintenance on those substations, because those voltages, 25 KV, 27.6 KV, are standard distribution voltages.  They have just simply -- you know, as the equipment at those voltages over the years has become more available and more cost-effective, they have just simply eliminated old substations and eliminated those costs.

The legacy decisions that have been made on our system, it is just -- it is not possible.  We could go to a 34.5 KV distribution voltage, in theory.  The costs are much higher at 34.5 KV than they are at the standard distribution voltage classes, 28 KV and less.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. King, Fortis bought Gananoque in the 2007 or so?  Am I right?  Or in that range?

MR. KING:  2002.

MR. SHEPHERD:  2002.  And Port Colborne, you leased it for a while and then you bought it, so you have had it since about the same time?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And when did you acquire Fort Erie?

MR. KING:  Fortis acquired Fort Erie back in 1997.

MR. SHEPHERD:  1997.  So -- and one of the things that Fortis was doing was it was acquiring utilities that had some issues, right, and this is known when you bought them, that they had some problems, particularly Fort Erie; right?

MR. KING:  Um-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I guess I would ask at what point do you have to have turned these around so that you no longer have the issues.  At what point is it your responsibility to say, okay, we've bought a dog, but we fixed it?  Because you have had them now for 15, 20 years.

MR. KING:  We will give you the technical answer first on that.

MR. HAN:  Okay.  Excuse me, I am a little bit excited again. In our distribution system, as Greg mentioned, the fundamental issue is the 34.5 KV system, the 4.8 KV delta system, and let me put this way:  In Fort Erie we have all the uncommon voltages in Ontario, but we don't have the common voltages.  As a result our inventory is fairly high.  It is just an example.  I am not saying how much cost impact, because we have to store -- we have to keep spares for so many different non-standard parts.  They are in the system.

Now, you ask me --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a program to fix this, right?

MR. HAN:  No.  You ask me, why you are going fix --


MR. TAYLOR:  Don't interrupt him.  Just let him finish.

MR. HAN:  -- why you are going to change at 20 -- 34.5, and we are not changing that, because if we change it, it is going to cost a lot of money.  You basically -- you throw the whole system away and build a brand-new system.  You can't.

Now, are we going to deal with the 4 KV?  Yes, and in this rate application we are asking to do the voltage conversion, get rid of non-standard voltage, but the reason we pick at this time, we start this program in 2000 -- year 2000, a voltage conversion, but we do that in a manner that -- to meet the asset's age.  We do not want to go in there arbitrarily.  As you know, as I say, it is a 50-year cycle, most of the stuff, so we do not want to go in there to say, okay, this is 20 years old assets, let's change it tomorrow, get rid of it.  It's not cost-efficient.

So now our Fort Erie, the downtown area, is in the near 40, 50 years old, so now is the opportunity.  That's why we want to -- over the next ten years we want to get rid of it.  That's our technical solution.

Now, if you are asking me when the 4 KV system will be out of the way, in ten years.  Now, can I do that in the next three?  Yes, I can, but then I am going to ask Mr. King to give me lots of money.  He said you are joking --


MR. SHEPHERD:  He's just going to say no.

MR. HAN:  Yeah, he is going to say no for sure.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  If I can add to Mr. Han's answer and maybe answer what you were directing at Mr. King here, when you asked, you know, how are we going to fix this, what's our plan, and I think the distribution system plan that we have presented, and we went through it in quite a lot of detail in the technical conference as well, it present a plan that achieves a significant amount of that voltage conversion in the next five years, with some remaining voltage conversion in the years after that.  It brings our pole replacements to, you know, relatively sustaining levels, so in this rate application and in our previous rate application, you know, one of the drivers on rate increases was an increased rate base.  We are investing in our system.

Now that we are at a more sustainable level in this upcoming DSP we would expect the overall increase in capital spending to relatively level off to sustaining levels.  We have replaced a lot of old substations, we are getting our poles to a sustaining replacement level, so those one-time capital hits for the new substation or, you know, capital increases to go from a certain number of poles to a certain higher number of poles, we wouldn't expect those to show up next time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So despite the fact that you have had improvement from your last rebasing to this one, your cost performance is actually worse; right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  The cost performance as shown in the PEG model, which includes capital and OM&A, is slightly worse, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And we can expect five years from now when you come back that it will be the same, right?  You won't have improved that at all; will you?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I mean, I am not going to predict what the PEG model is going to be in five years.  The Board has indicated in their report that 2019 would see a refresh of that model.  Whether that's just the refresh of including more up-to-date data or, you know, a re-analysis of the model itself in the context of, you know, revised RRFE requirements, the rate handbook, I won't speculate on that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, part of what -- part of the way that you get there is to introduce productivity initiatives; right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes, we are always looking for productivity improvements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me ask you -- and we have this in the materials.  We asked you about productivity, and Mr. Janigan took you to this earlier.  I am just going to ask you something slightly different about it.

If you look at page 29 of our materials.  You have assumed that from 2018 to 2021 your OM&A will go up by 2 percent per year; right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  We assumed that for the purpose of completing 2AB that our OM&A would go up by 2 percent per year, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And your expectation is that there will be cost drivers, some of which you don't even know about right now, that will push it up higher than that, but there will be productivity savings that will offset that; isn't that right?

MR. KING:  I would jump in here.  I wouldn't read too much into a 2 percent OM&A increase.  The amount of due diligence that happens on 2018, 2019, and 2020 numbers is not significant.  You know, we do a deep dive into next year's but, you know, we roll forward.

So will that be 1.5, will it be a half percent, will it be two-and-a-half percent?  It's not something you can easily forecast out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't that the whole point of the Board requiring you to have a five-year distribution system plan, so that you will look farther into the future and plan more seriously five years out?  Isn't that right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  And what I will say is, you know, to the extent if we had identified a cost savings, you know, or an FTE reduction or something that was, you know, a quantified amount that would have shown up in one of those years, we would have factored that into the forecast.  A lot of the plan we presented in the DSP, as you are well aware, is focused on voltage conversion activities.

One of the big benefits to that, as we have presented throughout the application, and we have discussed as well, is line-loss reductions.  That is a benefit to customers.  Customers benefit from line-loss reductions.  Do they show up in O&M?  No, they don't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They show up in bills, right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  They do show up on bills.

MR. KING:  You know, when I say don't read too much in 2 percent, certainly on the capital side we do a lot more due diligence in our five years out, but not so much on our OM&A side.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't part of your capital plan to drive your OM&A costs down to control them?

MR. KING:  We would expect that would happen as our capital increases, and I think that's what --


MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's not part of your planning.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  It's part of the planning --


MR. KING:  It will be the results of our planning, we hope.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't say, how can we spend -- invest some money in our system that will drive down our OM&A.  You are not doing that, at least not over more than a year or two.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I think the investments we presented in the DSP, whether it's voltage conversion, whether it's pole replacement, it's about dealing with asset condition issues that could impact reliability, could impact safety, the assets are at end of life.  For those decisions we have done analysis on options, we have considered alternatives, we have considered the costs and the benefits of those alternatives and presented what we believe is an optimized plan.

Those investments will have potentially some cost savings in the long run.  You know, distribution, automation may reduce outage restoration time, which could reduce costs.  We discussed that as well in the technical conference.

Do we have an amount that we can make an adjustment in that, you know, very high-level forecast that we used 2 percent as a placeholder?  No.  I mean, do we have inflation rate forecasts to base that 2 percent on?  We use 2 percent as a proxy for inflation.  The actual inflation could be slightly more than 2 percent, and we could have productivity improvements that bring it to less than 2 percent.  The 2 percent was a placeholder for the IRM years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, what you do in your forecasting -- tell me whether this is right, and we talked about this at the technical conference -- is you make sure that you include the costs of productivity initiatives in your revenue requirement, but you don't record any savings from them; isn't that right?  In fact, we went through them for like 15 minutes in the technical conference, and every time I asked you did you include a savings, your answer was no, we can't figure out how much it was.  We didn't get rid of a whole FTE.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  As I just said, line loss reductions, we have example in the DSP that show significant line loss reductions over time that will be a benefit to our customers.  Could we include them in our O&M forecasts?  No, because they don't affect O&M.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So because you are getting line loss reductions, you shouldn't include your savings from OM&A initiatives?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I never said that.  When you look at other examples -- we just discussed distribution automation a minute ago.  In the long run, would all these multiple investments in distribution automation, smart grid type initiatives, would they improve reliability, reduce number of outages, potentially reduce costs?  Yes, they would in the long run.

Will they reduce costs in 2018?  Not necessarily.  If the outage happens in an area where we didn't invest in that then, you know -- can we quantify anything absolute concrete for 2018?  No, our hope would be that, you know, those outage response costs, those other costs that we compare ourselves to year over year, and when we do future budgets we look at trending, we look at past actuals.  You know, our hope would be that when we are in for our next application, we will start seeing something to base a quantifiable reduction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right now you have quite a number of costs in your application, and some of these cost drivers you are talking about that are for -- to get future productivity, right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I wouldn't say the bulk of them are aimed at future productivity.  I would say, as I mentioned a few minutes ago, the bulk of these investments are dealing with asset condition.  Do they have some productivity benefit potentially?  Yes.  Were they driven by including a cost to get a productivity benefit?  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So these additional costs that you are talking about, the various cost drivers, these are all just to stay where you are?  Your customers aren't getting anything more for them?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I think we provided a whole tab here on what they are getting.  If there is value to the customer, we have provided it in our hearing materials.  If it's something driven by legislation that's outside of our control, it's possible that they are not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to move to the OM&A figures.  We provided you with a spreadsheet; this is on page 15 of our materials.  Now this is -- I apologize to the applicant.  I thought you'd actually seen this before.  It was sent to the applicant on the weekend, the live spreadsheet, but I thought they had actually seen this before.  This is Mr. Aiken's famous OM&A spreadsheet, which has been used for the last five years in hundreds of proceedings and I thought you had seen it before.  I apologize for -- I guess we didn't give it to you earlier.  Normally it's provided before ADR.

But I want to use it in any case to verify some numbers.  So what this does is -- you see in the first section, and I can't claim credit for any of this.  Mr. Aiken designed this and did a great job.

In the first section 1, it shows your total OM&A each year and makes an adjustment for the vehicle depreciation. That's a correct adjustment, right?  You have to adjust for that in your actuals in 2013, otherwise your actuals are unfair.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so you actually spent about $621,000 less in 2013 than the Board approved for OM&A, right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes, and we have identified reasons why.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, understood.  And in fact, you didn't get back up to the level that you were collecting in rates until 2016, right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I mean, if you consider 2013 forward, if you are making an assumption that we collected exactly the 2013 Board-approved amount in rates every one of those years, then that's correct.  As Mr. King alluded to earlier, we have had declines in load, so the amount collected in rates isn't necessarily what was approved in 2013.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  And in fact, Mr. King, you said when you were being questioned, I think by Mr. Janigan -- or maybe by Mr. Aiken, that you think that 2016 will actually only be around 9.7 or $9.8 million in OM&A, right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So actually next year is the first year you will actually need any more money than you got in 2013; isn't that right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Again you are making an assumption that load is constant throughout that period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  I guess I am making an assumption that the Board said here's an amount for OM&A and you collected that amount, but you actually spent something in the order of $1.3 million less; is that right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I don't agree that we necessarily collected the amounts that you are referring to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see, I see.  So leave that aside.  Then in 2014, your OM&A went up 2.38 percent; that's right, isn't it?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  That's correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in 2015, 0.89 percent.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so over those two years, they actually did -- your OM&A actually went up less than inflation, right -- or roughly, slightly less.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  It appears on an actuals basis without considering the cost drivers, yes.  When you consider the cost drivers, as we've spoken to many times today, it does compare to inflation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Didn't you have cost drivers in those years?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes, we did, and they are presented in the hearing materials.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why didn't your OM&A go up more?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Because there are also cost reductions in those years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But there are not going to be any this year or next year -- I guess last year and this year.  There's not going to be any reductions in these two years, only in the IRM years, right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  There's enduring savings from the reductions that happened in earlier years, but we haven't identified any specific material reductions in 2016 or 2017.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See this is -- and it's actually a pattern that we have seen lots of times in other utilities. In your bridge year, you suddenly have a big increase in OM&A, and then in the test year, you have another big increase in OM&A.  But in the IRM years, now you are fine.  And I am wondering whether that's going to repeat itself.

There is a term for this, which I have to credit Mr. Thompson when he was a counsel as inventing, which is base year stuffing.  And it appears to me anyway that the pattern appears to be repeating itself, that you will probably spend a lot less in 2017 than your are asking for; isn't that right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I don't know what you are basing that on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, because that's what you did in 2013.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  And so we have presented detailed costs for 2017, we have presented cost drivers for 2017.  I don't know why you are suggesting we will spend less than we indicated in the application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Anyway, so what this spreadsheet does is it says, okay, what is a reasonable rate for your OM&A to escalate, and it takes inflation from the Board's website and your stretch factor, again the Board sets that, zero productivity because that's the Board's determination.  It factors in additional increase for customer growth based on an a study that was filed with the Board on the impact on OM&A of customer growth, and gets annual numbers of, you know, 1.3 to 1.7 over the course of those years.

Are those unreasonable numbers?  Are those numbers too low for a utility to live on?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  What numbers are you referring to?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am looking now at line 25.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Line 25.  I mean, I would say you are comparing OM&A costs between years without any consideration for cost drivers.  So assuming those cost drivers weren't there, all else being equal and assuming we could achieve productivity improvements equal to the, you know, the amounts in the PEG model, and that's a lot of assumptions, you know, then you get to those numbers.  I don't think I agree that those are necessarily
reasonable --


MR. SHEPHERD:  This isn't actually the PEG model, this is the IRM formula, the Board's IRM formula; right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. KING:  I would jump in and say, you know, these numbers are stretch numbers, and that's what they are meant to be.  They are not easily achievable numbers of an increase of 1.22 or 1.7, you know.  Inflation is 2.  The Board's challenged us with the .45.  You know, we demonstrated in the application there are constant challenges of new things and new programs that we want to introduce, be it pole-testing or new issues that come up, and offsetting that we do have some productivity improvements, so -- but these are not easy numbers to achieve.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have any evidence at all that your -- that the cost drivers in the past were less than the cost drivers you are facing now?  In the period from 2002 to 2012, for example, which is what the IRM analysis is based on, that the cost drivers were less in those years than they are now; do you have evidence of that?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I don't think we have evidence either way that they are less or more or equal to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Just before I leave this part of it, I asked you what's different about CNPI that causes your costs to be so high, and the only example you gave is your 34.5 KV system.  Are there other things as well, or is that the reason why you have this cost differential?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I mean, we provided that as one example.  I mean, I can think of other areas -- you know, during the technical conference we discussed our procedures to comply with habitat stewardship, so species-at-risk legislation, other environmental-related legislation --


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not the only utility that does that.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I am not saying the legislation doesn't apply to all the utilities.  To my knowledge I haven't had discussions with any other utilities that meet that -- those obligations to the same level we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But remember my original question?  It was, what is there special about CNPI that means your costs will always be higher than everybody else's by 15 percent, let's say.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I don't think we have ever suggested that our costs will always be higher than anyone else's.  I think a few minutes ago we had a discussion that, you know, we have invested in our system.  We are getting to the point of sustainable investment.  Some of these other utilities that have historically done quite well in the benchmarking model, they are the ones being bought up by Hydro One, you know, when their next cost-of-service application comes due.  Is that because they don't have the money to invest in their system, is it because there's other reasons?  I don't know that for sure, but...

MR. KING:  We continue to do, you know, larger things like, you know, you've mentioned other utilities.  You know, we acquired other utilities, we have shared services amongst our utilities, we charge out our systems to other utilities for billing.  You know, we've closed the DB plan, so, you know, that's very expensive, and we closed that.

So we are -- there is larger things we continue to do and look at that try to reduce our costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then aren't these things supposed to save money?  Because I am looking at the benchmarking results back to 2010 and up to 2021, and bad, bad, bad every year.  That's ten years.

MR. KING:  I would suggest it would be worse, worse, worse if we didn't do those things.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I think the other point to that is the benchmarking results include OM&A and capital, so we have been focused on an OM&A discussion on cost drivers.  The fact that we are investing in our system increases our capital costs as calculated by the benchmarking model, which impacts the result that we get out of that model.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I want to -- I have one other thing on this subject, and that is this other revenue adjustment.  I am trying to understand it.  Because -- and maybe the best way to do that is to look at your tab -- what is it, 8?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of your evidence.  So you have a number on line B of your spreadsheet, which is an adjustment for 2017 and beyond; right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why isn't that in 2015 and 2016?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  So the change in accounting method related to the shared services made it easy to quantify that number for 2017 forward.  The problem with trying to apply it in previous years is that the benchmarking model historically takes changes in gross asset additions, which are then, from my understanding, converted to capital units in the model.  Those are depreciated at a constant depreciation rate, which may have nothing to do with the actual life of those particular assets, so there is no really straightforward way to take, you know, a net book value related to those assets in previous years and back it out in a way that would be consistent in those years in the benchmarking model.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your 2017 forward and your 2015 and 2016 in this presentation are not comparable, are they?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Well, and that's why we left the original results of the benchmarking model in, so line G presents the unadjusted results.  So if you are trying to look at trending, then the trending is there.

I think you are reading too much into this model.  We presented it as, here is an issue that we see with the results of the model, and here is an adjustment, you know, that from a high-level perspective -- and I agree with earlier comments that this might need to be investigated in more detail -- presents, you know, our attempt to adjust the model to show at a high level at a ballpark what that adjustment results in.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I simplify this?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it fair to say that you can't find in the model, and so you assume it is isn't there -- and I looked too and I can't find it either -- some way that the variation in other revenues related to internal cost sharing is reflected?  You can't find that in the model; right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you don't know what the impact of not having it in the model is; do you?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is not the impact; right?  That  1-million-456 is not the amount that should be in the model; is it?  You are not saying that.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Well, what I am saying is the model calculates an actual cost, and so we have taken an actual cost related to those other revenues and backed that off from the actual cost as calculated by the model.  So it's a proxy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yes, except that, as Mr. Aiken pointed out to you, that number, 1-million-456, isn't even the adjustment amount that Mr. King was talking about; is it?  It's not that amount at all.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Can you explain that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because the only thing that is actually not in the top line that you think should be adjusted in the top line is the asset costs associated which you are recovering; isn't that right?  All the other stuff is already out of there anyway.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  What do you mean by "all the other stuff is already out of there"?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Everything in 4325, everything in 4330, is all already adjusted in the 23,992.  You just said that to Mr. Aiken.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Okay.  So, I mean, I guess if you wanted to make the argument that we should have only included 4375, that's the bulk of those costs.  That's well over --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a million and one, right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yeah, it's a million and one, so including 4325 and 4330, I mean, that presents the net of the other revenue we are getting from services to associates, which I would argue is a benefit to our ratepayers.  It does provide net revenue to us that acts as an offset in the revenue-requirement work form.

So, I mean, you can argue all you want that it shouldn't be included in this adjustment, but that makes the adjusted value that much further from our revenue requirement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you yourself said that this benchmarking comparison is not a revenue-requirement comparison; is it?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  No, it's not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then why are you trying to make it into a revenue-requirement comparison?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  We filed the model because it was a filing requirement.  We are trying to be helpful to all those involved in this proceeding in presenting what we perceive as an issue to the model.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Did you also -- is that the only issue to the model that you are concerned with?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I wouldn't say that's the only issue to the model that I am concerned with.  I mean, one other thing I can point out is, when I was looking at the model, 2018 numbers, just because of the historical circumstances of our service area, we had a dip in customer count in 2008, and because a ten-year customer growth is an input to the model, all of a sudden 2018 the results get worse, 2019 they get better again.  It's, you know, there is issues -- there's multiple issues that we have seen in the model.  This is a significant issue.  And as I've said, we are not challenging the applicability of the model for IRM purposes for assignment of stretch factors.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then what's the purpose of filing it?  You were asked this earlier and I didn't hear a clear answer.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I will repeat the answer for probably the fifth or sixth time now.  The filing requirements required us to file the model.  We are presenting what we see as an issue because now this model is being examined in the cost of service proceeding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, sorry, maybe I should have stated my question more clearly.

What is it that you want the Board to conclude from this -- what you have just filed?  Is it that the benchmarking forecast is useless, or that it shouldn't be relied on in cost of service at all, or what?

MR. KING:  So I would jump in there, Jay -- Mr. Shepherd, sorry -- I would say, you know, in your filing, you have provided some benchmarking results in your first filing and you showed us as not doing so well.  And we accept that at its face value.

This is a demonstration of -- well, if we include this other revenue, which we believe it should be there, it actually improves that.  And so this would be something saying, well, the Board asked us to file this.  We don't think it's technically all right, and so we believe with our adjustments there, is does improve our circumstances.  So it would actually change what you have filed previously.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when it comes right down to it, whether it's your way or the Board's way, your costs are still way above your predicted costs, right?  Whether it's three-and-a-half million or 2.1 million, it's still way above, right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I think when you go back to the model, and we discussed this a minute ago, the actual cost doesn't tie to the revenue requirement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are these not your actual costs?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  They are the costs calculated by the model.  So the OM&As, yes, are actual; they go into the model.  The capital cost is a pure calculation in the model.  It's based on historical capital data which, from my understanding of the PEG report, starts at 1989 for most distributors.  For CNPI, it starts at 2002, which presents another issue because the way the report is written, the farther back you go in time the more accurate and reliable those costs are.

And then it uses an OEB deemed WACC rate for all utilities.  So again, while that aids in comparing utilities to each other, it's one more step away from an actual revenue requirement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're currently forecasting that you are going to outperform -- from a cost point of view, you are going to perform better over the next five years than the predicted costs in the model, right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Right, and I think Mr. Aiken alluded to earlier, the model includes OM&A increase of 2.3 percent.  So to the extent we have used two, that probably accounts for a lot of that difference.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, the model also includes an adjustment factor which increases the predicted costs by about 4 percent a year, and you are saying you're going to out perform 4 percent a year.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Can you point me to that factor?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  21,207,353 minus 2,444,658 is 3.73 percent. Do the next year, it's 3.86 percent, and so on.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Sorry I --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you not know that?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I am having trouble finding the numbers you are referencing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Take a look at line D -- this is your spreadsheet, right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Take a look at line D.  Look at 2018.  21,207,353, right?  That's the predicted cost for 2018, right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For 2017, it's 20,444,658, right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What's the increase between the two?  It's 3.73 percent -- and so on.  3.86 percent the next year, 3.78 percent the next year.  You're only outperforming the model because the model thinks that your costs, your overall costs, are going to go up by almost 4 percent a year; isn't that right?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  So that's another issue with the model.  Why does the model think our overall costs are going up 4 percent a year?

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, I want to -- I was having fun with that I, but think that --

MR. BEHARRIELL:  So was I.

MS. SPOEL:  I think if we want to get out of here this afternoon, maybe we can move on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I actually have one other area, which may take about 5 minutes.  I may actually make 4:30.

MS. SPOEL:  Excellent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is the cost of debt.  I wonder if you could turn to -- this is probably for you, Mr. King, if you could turn to page 31 of our materials?  So you have $30 million of debt, which you took out 14 years ago at 7.1 percent, right? 

MR. KING:  Yes, 15 years ago --

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Buonaguro, when you pull this up, can you increase the --

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am going the make it as big as I can.

MS. SPOEL:  As big as you can, because our printed copy is not -- my reading glasses don't quite do it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I tried to expand it, but --

MS. SPOEL:  Excellent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just look at the 2017 test year, that's -- we might as well use that, right.  So you have this debt that's about 13-and-a-half years old right now, that is at 7.1 percent, right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's $30 million, and it's 15-year debt, which means that in August of 2018, you are going to replace it with market debt, right?

MR. KING:  Replace it third-party debt, similar debt.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you will get it at the best rate you can in the market, right?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Today the market for that would be 4, 4.1, 4.2?  Am I in the right range?

MR. KING:  I would think today that market -- probably 4.75, yes.  We would likely replace this with 30-year debt, but 4.75, it's in the range.

MR. SHEPHERD:  4.75 is 30-year debt, right?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If it were 15-year debt, it would be 4.1 or 4.2 maybe.

MR. KING:  I am not sure if it would be 4.1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We are in the ballpark, right.

MR. KING:  Well, 4.75 and 4.1 are not really the same numbers, but --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Compared to 7.1, they're --

MR. KING:  Well, when you are talking about $30 million, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is why I am asking this, because if you were table to renew at today's rates -- and I know you can't, but if you were, you would be saving a million dollars a year, right, roughly?

MR. KING:  We would be saving a half million dollars a year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry --

MR. KING:  So if I was to take, you know, today -- let's use our rate base today of about $90 million and 56 percent of that, because I would take all this debt and likely renew it all, the affiliated debt and the third-party debt.  So take all our debt and renew it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.

MR. KING:  We will use my 4.75, you know it would be about a half-million-dollar difference there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would renew the affiliated debt at a more expensive cost?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would you pay 4.75 when the Board's rate is 4.54?

MR. KING:  Well, this is affiliated debt, so Fortis Ontario -- there's a requirement.  They are not a bank; they are not long-term.  The purpose of having this is short term debt until we get to the maturity of this.  So the long-term strategy is that this amount would be renewed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So whether it's half a million or a million dollars a year, you can save a lot of money once you renew, right?

MR. KING:  There is a difference -- as it stands today, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The problem is you don't know what the rate is going to be in 2018, right?

MR. KING:  I do not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have a forecast?

MR. KING:  No, I do not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it -- treasury is one of your functions, right?

MR. KING:  It is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Aren't you on top of the forecasts on a regular basis?  Are you concerned with that on a regular basis?

MR. KING:  Jay, I wouldn't be sitting here if I could forecast interest rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, none of us would be.  But you do get a lot of information on interest rates.

MR. KING:  I am sure I could access information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And nothing suggests that anything close to 7 percent likely in 2018, right?  Nobody is forecasting that, are they?

MR. KING:  I am not aware of 7 percent forecasts, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you do expect there will be some material amount of interest rate savings starting in August 2018.

MR. KING:  I expect there to be a reduction in interest rate savings in 2018.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so the question is, is there -- why do you think that you shouldn't reflect that in your rates that will be continuing for five years?

MR. KING:  We are looking at 2017 test year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. KING:  And that's what I filed as part of this application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But when we were talking about pensions earlier, you said, oh no, we are in a rate holiday this year.  We can't count this year because it's unusual, right?  So why is this different?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I don't think we ever said that for pensions.  I think we proposed to continue with an accrual methodology that we have used from the beginning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Even though you are not actually spending any money this year.

MR. KING:  We certainly spent a lot in the past on pensions.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  You are mixing two different issues.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, no, the argument I heard -- and maybe I misunderstood, and I am inviting you to correct me -- the argument I heard was these numbers are volatile, so previous years we had to pay a lot in pensions and this year we don't have to pay anything, and so you can't use the fact that we don't have to pay anything as an amount to include in rates this year.  It's not fair.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  But those numbers are only volatile on an accounting basis that we are not currently using.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I don't understand.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  The pension numbers are volatile on a cash basis, which we are not currently using to recover those amounts in rates.  They're not volatile on an accrual basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. King, I heard you say earlier -- tell me whether I misunderstood this -- that in 2018 you are going to have to go get another valuation.  You might have to pay a million dollars a year, and that's one of the reasons why you can't go to cash basis now; isn't that right?

MR. KING:  Well, I think that's one of the reasons against cash basis, because of the volatility, and so I demonstrate what it was in 2013.  I believe the cash basis was $1.4 million versus $300,000 in 2017, so that $1.1 million for 372 percent volatility, so that in itself, besides inter-generational issues and all the stuff that people talked about in generic hearing very thoroughly, that issue is -- for us it's volatility.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I am asking the question, if in a similar way you are going to have a big change -- this a big -- a material change in how much you are going to need to spend on debt, if you are going to have a big change that you expect next year, why wouldn't you reflect that just as much as you'd reflect pensions on a --


MR. KING:  I think my pensions -- I am not asking to do anything, I am asking my pensions to stay on an accrual basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which means you collect money you are not spending.

MR. KING:  I am asking to stay on an accrual basis, which is consistent with what I have always done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Madam Chair, I am finished.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

We have a couple questions from the panel.
Questions by the Board:

MR. PASTIRIK:  I just had just a question on kind of your overall budgeting process.  When you do set your budgets, your annual budgets and your longer-term budgets, how do you factor in a productivity factor?  We talked earlier about a 45-basis-point productivity factor that was on one of the charts before.

How do you factor that in when you are actually developing your budget?

MR. KING:  You know, we -- in our budgeting process, our budgeting process would start in March, and we would send templates out to our managers and ask them, and we would give them direction, and saying, listen, we are not expecting to see any increases that involve inflation, and we are looking for, you know -- you know, and throughout the years, through the VPs and through the managers, we are always looking -- it's known that we are looking for productivity improvements or we are looking for ways to save money, ways to serve our customers better, and ways to become more innovative, and that's sort of a common theme.

MR. HAN:  I want to add one area when I do my budget.  For example, we have rules.  Any major projects need to have a justification, so you have a cost and you've got to show, you know, what is the driver for the project.  If it is a financial reason then we need to see the benefits, we need to see the cost/benefit analysis.  If it's for a reliability reason or assets replacement reason, we need to assess the asset's condition.

And so sometimes some of these projects we do the creative way.  Like, for example, our voltage conversion, we put it up now because we think the substation needs to be rebuilt.  I do not want isolated rebuild as is, delta back in again, and then later on, three year later, we decide to convert, and now I've got a three-years-old new transformer station.

So we do think ahead, do think what is the benefit to our existing customer.  And so that we come up the projects to say, okay, we do present value evaluation for large projects, for example this voltage conversion project, we do a present value evaluation to say what are the three options, what are the three options, and each option, what's the benefit and pros and cons and what is the cost of each options and what is the savings, including losses, and then we do a present value calculation and we recommend one.

So that's -- that is how we do our budget.  It's a -- I call that a top -- a bottom-up and a top-down.  The bottom-up is to identify issues and to come up options.  The top-down is when I got my number and I go to Mr. King, I say, I need this money, and he say, no, you go back and cut this number and then come back again, so that is the top-down portion of that.

MR. PASTIRIK:  So when you are looking at any suppliers or anything like that of services that you do, do you ask them each year, they have got to come up with ways of being more productive too, in terms --


MR. HAN:  We have a purchasing policy, and anything over $10,000, generally speaking, go through tender, so everything is market price.  There are exceptions, of course, but that's the general rule.

MR. KING:  The other part of it is, you know, you know, in our O&M there is a lot of labour.  Labour is a big cost to us, so we are always looking at our FTEs and looking at, so someone is retiring, or how can we -- if that person retires how can we not replace that person, how can we move people around, eliminate that job, or eliminate -- so for us the labour component is the biggest component.  You know, materials are one thing, and it's in the poles and wires and all that stuff, but it's not so much materials in our operations type stuff, and use of consultants, which, you know, this whole rate application, we would do it ourselves.  We would not use consultants to do that for the most part.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Another quick question is, in your service area do you know roughly the percentage of your customers that would be seasonal?

MR. BEHARRIELL:  I am going to say we don't track that specifically, but I wouldn't imagine it's very high.

MR. KING:  Oh, exception to that, Greg, is we do have some --


MR. BEHARRIELL:  Some pockets, yeah.

MR. KING:  -- I would say -- yeah, some pockets.  Greg is new to Fort Erie, so one thing about Fort Erie, it's on Lake Erie, so all of Lake Erie is beachfront areas.  There's all U.S. cottages there, so there is U.S. customers that come over and not necessarily spend all winter there, so I'm not sure how many, but there is U.S. customers that often stay on the lake -- Fort Erie.  And they're not classified as seasonal customers, they are all residential customers to us.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Right.  Okay.  And then the last question I have is on the piece on -- dealing with the issues that -- the outage issues in Gananoque, and I just wanted to be sure I understood your four options there, and were you saying that in the preferred option number 4 that you -- the outages was -- I think it was 38 hours, and you're looking at, by spending around $700,000, that you will be able to take that down to 19, just based on those types of outages?

MR. HAN:  That's correct.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you --


MR. BEHARRIELL:  If I can just clarify that, sir, we are actually looking at doing options 3 and 4 --


MR. PASTIRIK:  3 and 4.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  -- because that brings it further down to 18 hours, and option 3 was $100,000, it wasn't a significant --


MR. PASTIRIK:  Right.

MR. BEHARRIELL:  -- you know, compared to the other options and what you get for the cost.

MR. PASTIRIK:  Okay.  Great.  Thanks for clarifying.  That's what I wasn't sure about.  Thanks for clarifying.  That's my question.

MS. SPOEL:  I have no questions.

Mr. Taylor, do you have re-examination?

Re-Examination by Mr. Taylor:

MR. TAYLOR:  I have just got one question. I have been asked to ask the question, do the witnesses have any oral testimony that's on the record that they would like to clarify or correct?

MR. KING:  I have one.  So Jay, you had asked me about regulatory accounting and financial reporting, are there any differences.  There is actually one difference that occurred to me over lunch, so -- and it's known to all of us, but it's the way we, you know -- not what we are proposing in the application is our treatment of shared assets.

So from a rate-making perspective our shared assets, as we say, we take notionally, historically, you should take notionally out of CNPI and say, okay, this is my rate base and do it that way.  Well, for financial reporting purposes we have always said we are doing the methodology that we are proposing in the rate application, so that's what we have done for -- years ago when we started this we thought it was cleanest to do it -- okay, let's just make the rate base what it should be and not have this extra charge, but obviously we couldn't do that for financial reporting purposes, so we just said we would make the charge itself, and that's the only difference.

MR. HAN:  I have one small correction.  In the heat of my assumptions, I throw in the 20 substations, I said I have 20 substations and 1,000 kilometre lines.  Actually, we have ten substations.  The 20 is including the other two -- the other -- all Fortis Ontario, so I misspell (sic) that.
Procedural Matters:


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  And that concludes the evidence portion of this hearing.  In terms of argument, my understanding, Mr. Taylor, is you prefer to do written argument.

MR. TAYLOR:  That's correct.

MS. SPOEL:  Perhaps you can confer with Board Staff and come up with a schedule that's acceptable.  We can do that off-line I think; we don't have to set that up right this minute.  Perhaps you can discuss it with them and come up with some acceptable -- that doesn't take too much time, because it's much easier for us to write a decision if the evidence is relatively fresh in our minds, and if we stretch it out for months, we can't remember what we heard today.

MR. TAYLOR:  I think we can save some time in that I don't think we need to file any written argument-in-chief, just because I think that everything we said -- we have said everything we have to say.  We would just be repeating ourselves and copying the evidence in the IR.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I object to that.  The appropriate way to do it is that they have to put their arguments, and we get to respond to them.  What my friend is proposing is that we put our arguments, and we never have any chance to reply to what arguments he would like to make.

MS. SPOEL:  That's fine, Mr. Shepherd.  It is not actually uncommon for the applicants to forego argument-in-chief.  But if you would like CNPI to file an argument-in-chief, it can be short.  But if you would -- I think that Mr. Shepherd is correct, that the intervenors have the right to respond to the position.  I think you would have to put your position on the issues on the record as argument, as well as the evidence we heard, but it doesn't have to be extensive.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.

MS. SPOEL:  With that, I will leave it for Board Staff to work with the parties to work out a schedule.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, we will coordinate that.

MS. SPOEL:  Actually, if you prefer Mr. Taylor, we do have tomorrow set aside.  If you wanted to do a short oral argument-in-chief tomorrow, we could accommodate that.  Or would you prefer to do it in writing?

MR. TAYLOR:  Yes, I don't think I would be prepared to do that.

MS. SPOEL:  All right.  Just thought I would give you the option.

With that, I think we are adjourned for the day.  Thank you very much, gentlemen, for your helpful evidence.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:41 p.m.
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